Some Problems in Convexity and Topology

STUDIES ON FUZZY MATROIDS AND RELATED TOPICS

THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE COCHIN UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY UNDER THE FACULTY OF SCIENCE

By SHINY PHILIP

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS COCHIN UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COCHIN-682 022, KERALA, INDIA

MARCH 2010

Certificate

This is to certify that thesis entitled Studies on Fuzzy Matroids and Related Topics is a bonafide record of the research work carried out by Smt. Shiny Philip under our supervision in the Department of Mathematics, Cochin University of Science and Technology. The results embodied in the thesis have not been included in any other thesis submitted previously for the award of any degree or diploma.

Rechart

Dr. R. S. Chakravarti (Supervisor) Professor

Dr. T. Thrivikraman (Co-Supervisor) Former Professor

Department of Mathematics Cochin University of Science and Technology Kochi-682 022, Kerala Kochi-22 17 March, 2010

Declaration

I hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis entitled **Studies on Fuzzy Matroids and Related Topics** is based on the original work done by me under the supervision of Dr. R. S. Chakravarti and Dr. T. Thrivikraman, in the Department of Mathematics, Cochin University of Science and Technology, Kochi-22, Kerala; and no part thereof has been presented for the award of any other degree or diploma.

Shiny philip

Kochi-22 17 March, 2010

Shiny Philip Research Scholar Department of Mathematics Cochin University of Science & Technology

Acknowledgement

I place on record my profound sense of gratitude to my supervisors Dr. R. S. Chakravarti, the Head of the Department and Dr. T. Thrivikraman, Formally Professor and Head, Department of Mathematics, Cochin University of Science and Technology for their continuous inspiration, sincere guidance and invaluable suggestions during the entire period of my work. My gratitude and indebtness to Prof. T. Thrivikraman, the driving force behind this research is immense. Without his able guidance and encouragement, it would not have been possible to submit this work in its present form. He has always been very generous in setting aside his valuable time for discussions even at his residence. I express my heartfelt thanks and unlimited gratitude to him and to the members of the family.

I owe my gratitude to Dr. A. Krishnamurthy, Formally Professor, Cochin University of Science and Technology, for his sincere help and advice.

The realization of this doctoral thesis was possible due to excellent facilities available at the Department of Mathematics, Cochin University of Science and Technology. I thank all the faculty members and administrative staff for providing me such congenial and supportive atmosphere to my work.

In the process of my research and in writing the thesis, many people, directly and indirectly helped me, I would like to express my gratitude to them. Though I am not mentioning any name, I use this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to all my fellow researchers from whom I have benefited immeasurably.

l would like to thank my present organization IHRD, all my friends in IHRD especially my colleagues at Model Engineering College, Kochi, for the various help they have given to me during my research work.

I am really indebted to my family members for the moral support they ex-

tended through out the course of this work. I remember all of them with gratitude on this occasion of fulfillment of this thesis.

Above all, I praise and thank God Almighty for His blessings showered upon me through out the period of my study.

Shiny Philip

Contents

| 1 | Intr | duction | | 1 | |
|---|-----------------------------------|---|-----|----|--|
| | 1.1 | History and Development | | 2 | |
| | | 1.1.1 Fuzzy set theory | | 2 | |
| | | 1.1.2 Convexity theory | | 4 | |
| | | 1.1.3 Matroid theory | | 6 | |
| | 1.2 | Summary of the thesis | | 8 | |
| | 1.3 | Basic definitions and properties | | 10 | |
| | | 1.3.1 Fuzzy subset and its properties | | 10 | |
| 2 | Fuz | y Matroid | | 15 | |
| | 2.1 | Fuzzy matroid | ••• | 16 | |
| | 2.2 | Some properties of a fuzzy convexity space | | | |
| | | under a FCP and FCC mapping | • • | 18 | |
| 3 | Rela | ion between fuzzy matroids · · · | | 23 | |
| | 3.1 | Fuzzy independent structures | | 24 | |
| | 3.2 | Some properties of fuzzy independent structures | | 26 | |
| 4 | fuzzy matroids from vector spaces | | | | |
| | 4.l | Fuzzy matroids from vector spaces | | 46 | |
| | 4.2 | Properties of Fuzzy Matroids | | 52 | |

v

CONTENTS

| 5 | Various notions of dependence in | | |
|-----------------|----------------------------------|--|----|
| | 5.1 | Certain properties of a fuzzy convex structure and related definitions | 60 |
| | 5.2 | Types of dependence | 63 |
| | 5.3 | Inter-relations between different types of dependence | 71 |
| Conclusion | | | 78 |
| Bibliography | | iography | 80 |
| | Inde | x | 85 |
| List of Symbols | | | 88 |

vi

Chapter 1

Introduction

- 1.1 History and Development
- 1.2 Summary of the thesis
- 1.3 Basic definitions and properties

1.1 History and Development

1.1.1 Fuzzy set theory

The German Mathematician George Cantor (1845–1918) described a crisp set as a well defined collection of objects. A crisp set is defined in such a way as to dichotomize the individuals in some given universe of discourse (region of consideration) into two groups-members and nonmembers. A sharp, unambiguous distinction exists between the members of the class or category represented by the crisp set. However, many classification concepts we commonly employ and express in natural language describe sets that do not exhibit this characteristic. Instead their boundaries seen vague, and the transition from member to nonmember appears gradual rather than abrupt. Real situations are very often not crisp and deterministic and they cannot be described precisely. Such situations in our real life which are characterized by vagueness or imprecision cannot be answered just in 'yes' or 'no'. Thus an answer to capture the concept of imprecision in a way that would differentiate imprecision from uncertainty, the very simple idea put forward by the American Cyberneticist C. A. Zadeh [68] in 1965 as the generalization of the concept of the characteristic function of a set to allow for immediate grades of membership was the genesis of the concept of a fuzzy set. This in fact laid the foundation of fuzzy set theory. A fuzzy set can be defined mathematically by assigning to each possible individual in the universe of discourse, a value representing its grade of membership in the fuzzy set. This grade corresponds the degree to which that individual is similar or compatible with the concept represented by the fuzzy set. The membership grades are very often represented by real number values ranging in the closed interval between 0 and 1. The nearer the value of an element to unity, the higher the grade of its membership. The term fuzzy in the sense used here seems to have been first introduced by Zadeh [67]

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

in 1962. This paper was followed in 1965 by the technical exposition [68] of just such a mathematics now termed the 'Theory of fuzzy sets'.

Although the range of values between 0 and 1, both inclusive, is the most commonly used, for representing membership grades, an arbitrary set with some natural total or partial ordering can in fact be used. Elements of this set are not required to be numbers as long as the ordering among them can be interpreted as representing various strengths of membership degree. Thus the membership set can be any set that is at least partially ordered and the most frequently used membership set is a lattice. J. A. Goguen [18] in 1967 introduced the notion of a fuzzy set with a lattice as the membership set. Fuzzy sets defined with a lattice as the membership set are called L- Fuzzy sets or L- sets where L is intended as an abbreviation for lattice. In this thesis, we consider the fuzzy set as a function from a nonempty set X to the interval [0, 1].

Owing to the fact that set theory is the corner stone of modern mathematics, a new and more general frame work of mathematics was established. Fuzzy mathematics is just a kind of mathematics developed in this framework. Because of this, a fuzzy set theory has a wide scope of applicability than classical set theory in solving various problems.

Applications appear in computer science, artificial intelligence, decision analysis, information science, system science, control engineering, expert systems, pattern recognition, management science, operations research, robotics etc.

Fuzzy set theory, a developing subject in mathematics is making in roads into different disciplines of mathematics also. Among various branches of mathematics, convexity was one of the many subjects where the notion of fuzzy set was applied.

1.1.2 Convexity theory

Convexity theory has been accepted to be of increasing importance in recent years in the study of extremum problems in many areas of applied mathematics. The concept of convexity which was mainly defined and studied in \mathbb{R}^n in the pioneering works of Newton. Minkowski and others as described in [2], now finds a place in several other mathematical structures such as vector spaces, posets, lattices, metric spaces and graphs. This development is motivated by not only the need for an abstract theory of convexity generalizing the classical theorems in \mathbb{R}^n due to Helly, Caratheodory etc; but also by the necessity to unify geometric aspects of all these mathematical structures. Though convex sets are defined in various settings, the most useful definition is based on the notion of betweenness. When X is a space in which such a notion is defined, a subset C of X is called convex provided that for any two points, x and y of C, C includes all the points between x and y.

The theory of convexity can be sorted into two kinds. One deals with concrete convexity and the other that deals with abstract convexity. In concrete situations it was considered by R. T. Rockafellar [48], Kelly and Weiss [25], S. R. Lay [29] and many others. In this thesis, we are mainly concentrating on abstract convexity.

A set X together with a collection C of distinguished subsets of X called convex sets form a convexity space or aligned space if the following axioms are satisfied.

 $C_1: \emptyset \in \mathcal{C}, X \in \mathcal{C}$

 C_2 : C is closed under arbitrary intersections

 C_3 : C is closed for the union of totally ordered sub collections.

C is called an alignment or convexity on X. The convex hull of a set S is defined as Co $(S) = \cap \{A \in C | S \subseteq A\}$. Those families of sets which satisfy C_1

and C_2 are known as Moore Families or closure systems. Axioms C_1 and C_2 were first used by F. W. Levi [30] in 1951 and later on by Eckhoff [12], Jamison [21], Kay and Womble [24] and Sierksma [54]. The term "alignment" is due to Jamison [21]. Hammer [19] has shown that for Moore families the axiom C_3 is equivalent to the "domain finiteness" condition which states that for each $S \subseteq X$, Co $(S) = \bigcup \{ \operatorname{Co}(T) | T \subseteq S, |T| < \infty \}$ (|T| denotes the cardinality of T). Alternative terminologies for convexity space are "algebraic closure systems" [8], the closed sets associated with finitary hull operators and domain finite convexity spaces ([12, 19, 24, 54, 53, 55]).

The study of abstract hull operators has several valid ways of approach, convexity being only one. Convex hull operator plays a fundamental role in the convexity theory. It can be easily shown [21] that any hull operator and the alignment it generates agree on all finite sets. Thus in combinatorial studies (as those around the three classical convex invariants) which involve only hulls of finite sets, one can assume with out loss of generality that one has an alignment.

Topologies and alignments usually represent two different aspects of geometry. If topology is the rubber sheet geometry, in which structures can be stretched and deformed because only limiting behavior is important, then alignments are rigid sheet geometries basically combinatorial in nature. There is of course an important overlap of these two types of geometry.

In this discussion, an effort is made to stress the importance of the finitary property (that the hull operator is determined in general by its action on finite sets) and avoid forcing alignment into the mould of topology.

Since 1950's the theory of convexity spaces has branched and grown into several related theories. An elegant survey has been done by Van de Vel [60] whose work has been acclaimed as remarkable.

Regarding the application part of convexity theory, interesting problems

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

attempted to include the determination of computational complexity of convex hulls and computational complexity of the evaluation of convex invariants, problems of pattern recognition, optimization etc. A bibliography on digital and computational convexity has been prepared by Ronse [49].

The traditional definition of convexity (in terms of line segments) in Euclidean space are not applicable to discrete spaces, so it is necessary to investigate a more abstract axiomatic formulation in terms of alignment axioms. This results in discrete models of aligned spaces that hold the exchange axiom. These correspond to affine geometries which give rise to matroids.

1.1.3 Matroid theory

Matroids are an abstraction of several combinatorial objects—among them graphs and matrices. The word 'matroid' was coined by Whitney in 1935 in his landmark paper "on the abstract properties of linear dependence" [65]. In defining a matroid, Whitney tried to capture fundamental properties of dependence that are common to graphs and matrices. Almost simultaneously, Birkhoff showed that a matroid can be interpreted as a geometric lattice, Maclane showed that matroids have a geometric representation in terms of points, planes, dimension 3 spaces etc. Since then, it has been recognized that matroids arise naturally in combinatorial optimization and can be used as a framework for approaching a diverse variety of combinatorial problems. Often the term combinatorial geometry is used instead of simple matroids.

A matroid can be defined in several equivalent ways. Each of them is based on an axiom system. The primitive object of each axiom system can be identified with either the primitive or some derived objects of every other axiom system. The existence of various equivalent approaches giving rise to equivalent axiomatizations is one of the main features of the theory of matroids. There is

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

no one preferred or customary definition; in that respect, matroids differ from many other mathematical structures such as groups and topologies. Significant definitions of a matroid include those in terms of independent sets, bases, circuits, flats, closure operators and rank functions.

In combinatorics, a branch of mathematics, a matroid or independence structure is a structure that captures the essence of a notion of "independence" that generalises linear independence in vector spaces. One of the most valuable definitions is that in terms of independence. In this definition, a finite matroid Mis a pair (E, I) where E is a finite set and I is a collection of subset of E (called the independent sets) with the following properties.

- 1. The empty set is independent (alternatively at least one subset of E is independent)
- 2. Every subset of an independent set is independent.
- 3. If A and B are two independent sets and A has more elements than in B, then \exists an element in A which is not in B and when added to B still gives an independent set.

A subset of E that is not independent is called dependent. A maximum independent set - *i.e.*, an independent set which becomes dependent on adding any element of E is called a basis for the matroid. It is a basic result of a matroid theory, directly analogous to similar theorem of linear algebra that any two bases of a matroid M have the same number of elements. This number is called the rank of M.

Matroids are important combinatorial structures both from the point of view of theory and applications. Matroid theory is one of the areas that straddles across several branches of discrete mathematics such as combinatiorics, graph theory, finite fields, algebra and coding theory. Matroids are a unifying concept in which some problems in graph theory, design theory, coding theory and combinatorial optimization becomes simpler to understand. One of the subjects to which applications appear is the electrical network theory.

1.2 Summary of the thesis

The thesis contains 5 chapters.

The first chapter briefly describes the history and development of the subject, the summary of the thesis and the pre-requisites including some basic definitions and results which are required in the subsequent chapters.

Motivated by the theories for convex structures and fuzzy sets, we try to develop fuzzy convexity theory parallel to that of a convexity theory in an abstract setting. In [60], matroid has been defined as a convexity space satisfying the exchange law or equivalently flats of the independent structure form matroid. The definition of matroid given in [58] is not equivalent to the definition given in [60] as it does not satisfy the non-degeneracy law of the collection of independent sets. In the 2nd chapter, we introduce the notion of a fuzzy matroid analogous to that in [60]. In section 1, we define fuzzy matroid. Section 2 deals with some elementary properties like preservation of a fuzzy matroid under fuzzy convexity preserving (FCP) and fuzzy convex to convex (FCC) functions in the sense of [51].

In chapter 3, as a continuation of the study done in chapter 2, we define the notion of fuzzy independent structures analogues to that in [60]. In section 2, we study some properties of fuzzy independent structures which includes the fuzzy transitive law of dependence and the properties of a hull operator which helps to establish the relation between fuzzy matroids and fuzzy independent structures. Also it is proved that for a fuzzy convexity space (X, C), Co

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

 $(A) = \forall \{ \text{Co}(F) | F \subseteq A, F \text{ is finite} \}$ whose importance according to us is in lifting results from finite to the general case. At the end of the section, it is shown that fuzzy matroids form fuzzy independent structures as in the crisp case. But the converse need not be true and it is illustrated by a counter example.

In the 4th chapter, section 1 describes various types of fuzzy matroids derived from vector space and section 2 discusses some of their properties.

The classical numbers of Helly, Caratheodory and Radon play a central role in abstract convexity. Each of them is defined as a degree of independence tolerated by a convex structure. Various notions of dependence of a non empty finite set in a crisp convexity space and based on this, some characterization of the classical convex invariants namely Helly number, Caratheodory number, Radon number and Exchange number are available in literature (*c.f.* [60]).

In the 5th chapter, we try to extend different types of dependence defined in [60] to the fuzzy context and reveal some interesting inter-relations among them. In the first section we introduce the fuzzy analogues of the properties of the crisp convex structure like join hull commutativity and cone union property as given in [60]. After that in section 2, different types of dependence in a fuzzy convexity space are defined and explored. Finally in the 3rd section, we get certain inter-relationship among different types of dependence in the fuzzy context.

The thesis ends with a conclusion of the work done and further scope of study. Some of the results contained in this thesis have been presented in seminars or published/accepted for publication in journals as below.

- 1. Shiny Philip, A Note on Fuzzy Matroid (to appear in The Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics).
- Shiny Philip, A Note on Fuzzy Independent Structures (Proceedings of the National Seminar on "Fuzzy Mathematics and Graph Theory", St. Teresa's College, Ernakulam, July 23–25, 2009).

- Shiny Philip, A Study on Various Fuzzy Matroids from Vector Spaces (Communicated).
- 4. Shiny Philip, On Various Notions of Dependence in a Fuzzy Convexity Space. (to appear in the Oriental Journal of Applied Mathematics).
- Shiny Philip, Relation between Fuzzy Matroids and Fuzzy Independent Structures, Bulletin of Kerala Mathematics Association, Vol.5, No.1 (2008, December) 63–80.
- Shiny Philip, Some Results on Fuzzy Matroid (Proceedings of The International Seminar on Recent Trends in Topology and its Applications, St. Joseph's College, Irinjalakuda, March 2009).

1.3 Basic definitions and properties

We give below the essential preliminaries needed.

1.3.1 Fuzzy subset and its properties

A fuzzy subset A on a nonempty set X is a function from X to I = [0, 1]. The set of all fuzzy subsets of X is denoted by I^X .

A fuzzy point a_{α} , $\alpha > 0$ is a fuzzy subset defined as

$$a_{\alpha}(y) = \begin{cases} \alpha, & \text{if } y = a \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Support of a fuzzy subset A is

supp
$$A = \{x \in X | A(x) > 0\}.$$

A fuzzy subset is said to be finite if its support is finite.

The set of all finite fuzzy subsets of X is denoted by I_{fin}^X .

If $\mathcal{A} \subset I^X$ we define $\forall \mathcal{A}$ a fuzzy subset with $(\forall \mathcal{A})(x) = \sup \mathcal{A}(x)$ for all $x \in X$ as the union and $\land \mathcal{A}$ a fuzzy subset with $(\land \mathcal{A})(x) = \inf \mathcal{A}(x)$ for all $x \in X$ as the intersection.

Also for a fuzzy subset A, its complement A' is defined as A'(x) = (A(x))'for all $x \in X$.

In particular, the complement a'_{α} of a fuzzy point a_{α} is defined as

$$a'_{\alpha}(y) = \begin{cases} 1 - \alpha, & \text{if } y = a \\ 1, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Given two fuzzy sets $A, B \in I^X$, we say that A is a subset of B and write $A \subseteq B$ (or $A \leq B$) if $A(x) \leq B(x) \forall x \in X$. In particular, $a_{\alpha} \subseteq B$ (or $a_{\alpha} \leq B$) if $a_{\alpha}(x) \leq B(x) \forall x \in X$.

i.e.,
$$a_{\alpha} \subseteq B$$
 (or $a_{\alpha} \leq B$) if $B(a) \geq \alpha$.

When $a_{\alpha} \subseteq B$ (or $a_{\alpha} \leq B$), we say that the fuzzy point a_{α} belongs to B and is denoted also by $a_{\alpha} \in B$.

Also $A \setminus B = A \wedge B'$.

For details regarding fuzzy subset and its properties, see [27].

Definition 1.3.1. [27] Let $f : X \to Y$ be an ordinary map, then we have the maps $f : I^X \to I^Y$ and $: f^{-1} : I^Y \to I^X$ where $\forall A \in I^X$,

$$f(A)(y) = \lor \{A(x) \mid x \in X, \ f(x) = y\}, \quad \forall y \in Y$$

[This means that f(A)(y) = 0 if there is no x with f(x) = y] and for all $B \in I^Y$,

$$f^{-1}(B)(x) = B(f(x)), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Note 1.3.2. [27] f and f^{-1} preserves arbitrary joins.

We recall the following definition, available in literature (cf. [51])

Definition 1.3.3. A family C of subsets of X is called a convexity if

- (i) $\phi, X \in \mathcal{C}$
- (ii) If $C \subset C$ is nonempty, then $\cap C \in C$.
- (iii) If $C \subset C$ is nonempty and totally ordered by inclusion, then $\cup C \in C$

The pair (X, C) is a convex structure or a convexity space. Members of C are called convex sets.

Analogously, we have the definition in the fuzzy context.

Definition 1.3.4. A family C of fuzzy subsets of X is called a fuzzy convexity if

- (i) $\underline{0}, \underline{1} \in C$
- (ii) If $F \subseteq C$ is nonempty, then $\wedge F \in C$.

(iii) If $F \subseteq C$ is nonempty and totally ordered by inclusion, then $\forall F \in C$

The pair (X, C) is a fuzzy convex structure or a fuzzy convexity space. Members of C are called fuzzy convex sets.

Note 1.3.5. <u>a</u> denotes a constant function whose value at x is 'a' $\forall x \in X$. If F is any fuzzy subset, then convex hull of F,

$$Co(F) = \wedge \{C \in \mathcal{C} | F \subseteq C\}.$$

Definition 1.3.6. [51] Let $X_1 = (X, C_1)$ and $X_2 = (X, C_2)$ be two fuzzy convexity spaces. Let $f : X_1 \to X_2$ be a function. Then f is said to be (i) a fuzzy convexity preserving function (FCP), if for each fuzzy convex set C in X_2 , $f^{-1}(C)$ is a fuzzy convex set in X_1 (ii) a fuzzy convex to convex function (FCC), if for each fuzzy convex set C in X_1 ,

the fuzzy subset f(C) is convex in X_2 .

Proposition 1.3.7. [51] Let X_1 and X_2 be two fuzzy convexity spaces. Let $f : X_1 \to X_2$ be a function. Then (i) f is an FCP function iff $f(Co(F)) \subseteq Co(f(F))$ for every finite fuzzy subset F in X_1 ,

(ii) f is an FCC function iff $f(Co(F)) \supseteq Co(f(F))$ for every finite fuzzy subset F in X_1 .

Proposition 1.3.8. [60] Let X be a join-hull commutative (JHC) space and $F \subseteq X$ be a finite set. If X has decomposable segments and F has at least two points, then for all $x \in Co(F)$,

$$Co(F) = \bigcup_{a \in F} Co(\{x\} \lor (F \setminus a)).$$

Definition 1.3.9. [27] A binary relation R on a set X is defined as any subset of $X \times X$. If $R \subset X \times X$ and $(x, y) \in R$, we say 'x is related to y' or 'x' is related to y under R and often write xRy.

A binary relation R on a set X is said to be

- (i) reflexive if for every $x \in X$, xRx
- (ii) symmetric if for every $x, y \in R$,

$$xRy \Rightarrow yRx$$

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

(iii) transitive if for every $x, y \in X$, xRy and $yRz \Rightarrow xRz$

A binary relation which is reflexive, symmetric and transitive is called an equivalence relation and is denoted by \equiv .

For each $x \in X$, the R-equivalence class in defined as the set $[x] = \{y \in X | yRx \}$.

Chapter 2

Fuzzy Matroid

CONTENTS

2.1 Fuzzy matroid

2.2 Some properties of a fuzzy convexity space under a FCP and FCC mapping

Some of the results of this chapter will appear in the Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics (2010)

CHAPTER 2. FUZZY MATROID

In [60], matroids have been defined as a convexity space satisfying the exchange laws or equivalently flats of the independent structure form matroids. The definition of matroids given in [58] is not equivalent to the definition given in [60] as the former does not satisfy the non-degeneracy laws of the collection of independent sets. In this chapter, we introduce the notion of a fuzzy matroid analogous to that in [60] and study some elementary properties like preservation under fuzzy convexity preserving (FCP) and fuzzy convex to convex (FCC) functions in the sense of [51].

2.1 Fuzzy matroid

Analogous to the notion of matroid [60], we introduce the concept of fuzzy matroid.

Definition 2.1.1. A family C of fuzzy subsets of X is called a fuzzy convexity on X if

- (i) $\underline{0}, \underline{1} \in C$
- (ii) If $F \subseteq C$ is nonempty, then $\wedge F \in C$

(iii) If $F \subseteq C$ is nonempty and totally ordered by fuzzy inclusion, then $\forall F \in C$.

The pair (X, C) is a fuzzy convexity space. The members of C are called fuzzy convex sets.

Note 2.1.2. <u>a</u> denotes a constant function whose value at x is 'a' $\forall x \in X$. If A is any fuzzy subset of X, then convex hull of A,

$$Co(A) = \wedge \{ C \in \mathcal{C} | A \subseteq C \}.$$

CHAPTER 2. FUZZY MATROID

Fuzzy exchange law 2.1.3

If $A \subseteq I^X$ and if $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin Co(A)$, then

$$p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \lor A) \Rightarrow q_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor A).$$

Definition 2.1.4. A fuzzy convexity space which satisfies the fuzzy exchange law is called a fuzzy matroid.

Example 2.1.5. Let $X = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ where \mathbb{N} is the set of natural numbers. Consider the fuzzy convexity C on X as $C = \{\underline{0}, \underline{1}, A\}$ where $A = 1_{\underline{1}} \vee 2_{\underline{3}}$. Let $\underline{0} \neq B \in I^X$. Let $a_{\alpha}, b_{\beta} \notin Co(B)$ and $a_{\alpha} \in Co(b_{\beta} \vee B)$. If $Co(B) \neq A$ (i.e., $Co(B) = \underline{1}$), there is nothing to prove. Let Co(B) = A, i.e., $B \leq A$. Then we proceed as follows.

 $a_{\alpha}, b_{\beta} \notin Co(B) = A$ corresponds to the following cases.

(i) $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}, \alpha > \frac{1}{2}, b_{\beta} = 1_{\beta}, \beta > \frac{1}{2}$

(*ii*) $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}, \alpha > \frac{1}{2}, b_{\beta} = 2_{\beta}, \beta > \frac{3}{4}$

- (iii) $a_{\alpha} = 2_{\alpha}, \alpha > \frac{3}{4}, b_{\beta} = 1_{\beta}, \beta > \frac{1}{2}$
- (iv) $a_{\alpha} = 2_{\alpha}, \alpha > \frac{3}{4}, b_{\beta} = 2_{\beta}, \beta > \frac{3}{4}$
- (v) $a_{\alpha} = x_{\alpha}, b_{\beta} = y_{\beta}, x, y \neq 1, 2$

Consider the case (i). Here

$$Co(b_{\mathcal{J}} \vee B) = \underline{1} = Co(a_{\alpha} \vee B).$$

Let
$$\beta \leq \alpha$$
 and $a_{\alpha} \in Co(b_{\beta} \vee B)$
i.e., $\beta \leq \alpha \leq (Co(b_{\beta} \vee B))(a) = (Co(a_{\alpha} \vee B))(b)$

i.e., $b_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor B)$ *i.e.*, $a_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(b_{\beta} \lor B) \Rightarrow b_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor B)$. <u>Let $\beta > \alpha$ </u> and $a_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(b_{\beta} \lor B)$ To show $b_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor B)$, assume the contrary *i.e.*, assume if possible, $b_{\beta} \notin \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor B)$

i.e.,
$$\beta > \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor B)(b) = \underline{1} = \operatorname{Co}(b_{\beta} \lor B)(a) \ge \alpha$$
.

i.e., $(b_{\beta} \vee B)(a) \leq \operatorname{Co}(b_{\beta} \vee B)(a) < \beta$. *i.e.*, $(b_{\beta} \vee B)(a) < \beta$. When $a = b, \beta \vee B(a) < \beta$. Here $B(a) = B(b) \leq A(b) < \beta$ as $b_{\beta} \notin A$. *i.e.* $\beta < \beta$ which is not true. That is, we have when $\alpha < \beta, a_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(b_{\beta} \vee B) \Rightarrow b_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee B)$

i.e., fuzzy exchange law is satisfied.

In the remaining cases also, we have $Co(b_{\beta} \vee B) = \underline{1} = Co(a_{\alpha} \vee B)$.

Following same lines, we can show that the fuzzy exchange law is satisfied. *i.e.*, (X, C) is a fuzzy matroid.

2.2 Some properties of a fuzzy convexity space under a FCP and FCC mapping

In this section, we study some elementary properties like preservation of a fuzzy matroid under fuzzy convexity preserving (FCP) and fuzzy convex to convex (FCC) functions. Also it is proved that a FCP and FCC image of fuzzy join hull commutative (JHC) space is JHC.

Definition 2.2.1. A fuzzy convexity space is join hull commutative (JHC) if the

following holds: if $A \in I^X$ is any nonzero fuzzy convex set and if $a_{\alpha} \in I^X$, then

$$Co(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \lor_{x_{\beta} \in F} Co(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$$

Proposition 2.2.2. A FCP and FCC image of a fuzzy JHC space is JHC.

Proof. Let X and Y be fuzzy convexity spaces and let $f : X \to Y$ be a FCP and FCC surjection where X is assumed to be a fuzzy JHC space. Let $p_{\alpha} \in Y$ and $C \subseteq Y$ be a fuzzy convex set. Fix a fuzzy point $p'_{\beta} \in f^{-1}(p_{\alpha})$. Then f maps the fuzzy subset Co $(p'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(C))$ onto Co $(p_{\alpha} \vee C)$

i.e.,
$$f(\operatorname{Co}(p'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(C))) = \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee C)$$

For,

$$f(\operatorname{Co}(p'_{\beta} \lor f^{-1}(C))) = \operatorname{Co}(f(p'_{\beta} \lor f^{-1}(C))) \text{ by Proposition 1.3.7}$$
$$= \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor C)$$
(2.2.1)

since $f(p'_{\beta}) = p_{\alpha}, f(f^{-1}(C)) = C, f(A \lor B) = f(A) \lor f(B).$ Since X is JHC,

$$\operatorname{Co}(p'_{\beta} \lor f^{-1}(C)) = \lor \operatorname{Co}(p'_{\beta} \lor c_{r}), \ c_{r} \in f^{-1}(C)$$
 (2.2.2)

where $f^{-1}(C)$ is convex in X corresponding to a fuzzy convex set C in Y. That

is

$$f(\operatorname{Co}(p'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(C))) = f(\vee_{c_r \in f^{-1}(C)} \operatorname{Co}(p'_{\beta} \vee c_r)), \text{ taking } fof(2.2.2) \quad (2.2.3)$$
$$= \vee_{c_r \in f^{-1}(C)} f(\operatorname{Co}(p'_{\beta} \vee c_r)) \text{ since } f(A \vee B) = f(A) \vee f(B)$$
$$= \vee_{c_r} \operatorname{Co}(f(p'_{\beta} \vee c_r)) \text{ since } f \text{ is FCC and FCP}$$
$$= \vee_{c_{r_1} = f(c_r) \in C} \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee C_{r_1}) \quad (2.2.4)$$

From (2.2.1) and (2.2.4),

$$f(\operatorname{Co}(p'_{\mathcal{J}} \vee f^{-1}(C))) = \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee C) = \vee_{C_{r_1}} \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee C_{r_1}).$$

That is Y is JHC.

Proposition 2.2.3. A FCP and FCC image of a fuzzy matroid is a fuzzy matroid.

Proof. Let X and Y be two fuzzy convexity space and suppose that X is a fuzzy matroid. Let $f : X \to Y$ be an FCP, FCC surjection. Suppose $A \subseteq Y$ and let $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \in Y$ be such that $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin Co(A)$ and $p_{\alpha} \in Co(q_{\beta} \lor A)$. We have to show $q_{\beta} \in Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)$. For this, we fix a fuzzy point $q'_{\beta} \in f^{-1}(q_{\beta})$.

$$q'_{\beta} \in f^{-1}(q_{\beta}) = q_{\beta} \circ f$$

$$\Leftrightarrow q'_{\beta}(x) \le (q_{\beta} \circ f)(x) \; \forall x \in X$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \beta \le (q_{\beta} \circ f)(q') = q_{\beta}(f(q'))$$

$$\Leftrightarrow f(q') = q.$$

Claim 1. $f(q'_{\beta}) = q_{\beta}$ if f(q') = q.

CHAPTER 2. FUZZY MATROID

By definition,

$$f(q'_{\beta})(q) = \sup\{q'_{\beta}(x)|f(x) = q\}$$
$$= \beta \text{ since } f(q') = q$$

For $y \neq q$,

$$f(q'_{\beta})(y) = 0$$
 since $q'_{\beta}(x) = 0 \ \forall x \neq q'$

i.e., $f(q'_{\beta}) = q_{\beta}$. Hence there is a fuzzy point $p'_{\alpha} \in f^{-1}(p_{\alpha})$ such that $p'_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(A))$. **Claim 2.** $p'_{\alpha}, q'_{\beta} \notin \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A))$. On the contrary, assume $q'_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A))$ *i.e.*, $q'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(A) \leq \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A)) \vee f^{-1}(A) = \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A))$ *i.e.*, $\operatorname{Co}(q'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(A)) \leq \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A))$. Then, $f(O_{\alpha}(f \vee f^{-1}(A))) \leq \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A))$

$$f(\operatorname{Co}(q'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(A))) \leq f(\operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A)))$$

$$\leq \operatorname{Co}(f(f^{-1}(A))) \text{ since } f \text{ is FCP.}$$

$$= \operatorname{Co}(A)$$

i.e., $p_{\alpha} = f(p'_{\alpha}) \in f(\operatorname{Co}(q'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(A))) \leq \operatorname{Co}(A)$.

which is a contradiction to $p_{\alpha} \not\in Co(A)$.

Therefore, our assumption is wrong

i.e.,
$$q'_{\beta} \notin \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A))$$
.

Similarly, we can show that $p'_{\alpha} \not\in \operatorname{Co}(f^{-1}(A))$.

Since $p'_{\alpha}, q'_{\beta} \notin Co(f^{-1}(A))$, by the property of the fuzzy matroid X, we have

$$p'_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q'_{\beta} \vee f^{-1}(A)) \Rightarrow q'_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p'_{\alpha} \vee f^{-1}(A)).$$

i.e.,
$$q_{\beta} = f(q'_{\beta}) \in f(\operatorname{Co}(p'_{\alpha} \vee f^{-1}(A)))$$

 $\leq \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee A)$
i.e., $q_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee A)$

i.e., Y is a fuzzy matroid.

 \Box

Chapter 3

Relation between fuzzy matroids and fuzzy independent structures

CONTENTS

3.1 Fuzzy independent structures

3.2 Some properties of fuzzy independent structures

Almost all the results of this chapter appeared as a research paper in *Bulletin of Kerala Mathemat*ics Association (2008) [45] In [60], (crisp convexity theory), matroid has been defined as a convexity space satisfying the exchange law and it is shown that an independent structure (a collection of independent sets satisfying finitary, non degenaracy and replacement laws on a non-empty set) can be constructed from a matroid and conversely. In chapter 2, the above concept of a matroid was extended by us to the fuzzy context. Here we continue the study and try to define fuzzy independent structures. In this chapter, we show that fuzzy matroids form fuzzy independent structures, but the converse need not be true.

3.1 Fuzzy independent structures

Analogous to the notion of independent structures [60], we introduce the concept of fuzzy independent structures.

Definition 3.1.1. Let (X, C) be an arbitrary fuzzy convexity space. A non zero fuzzy subset F is called convexly independent (or independent) provided $x_{\alpha} \notin Co(F \setminus x_{\alpha})$ for all $x_{\alpha} \in F$, $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$; we say F is convexly *-independent if $x_{\alpha} \notin Co(F \setminus x_{\alpha})$ for all $x_{\alpha} \in F$, $\alpha > 0$.

Definition 3.1.2. The collection ϵ of independent sets of a fuzzy matroid is said to satisfy the non-degeneracy law iff all fuzzy singletons are in ϵ .

Definition 3.1.3. The collection ϵ of independent sets of a fuzzy matroid is said to satisfy the finitary law if the following holds: A fuzzy subset $F \in \epsilon$ iff all non-zero finite fuzzy subsets of F are in ϵ .

Definition 3.1.4. The collection ϵ of independent sets of a fuzzy matroid is said to satisfy the replacement law provided for every finite fuzzy subsets $A, B \in \epsilon$ with card (supp B) > card (supp A), there is a fuzzy point $b_{\beta} \in B \setminus A$ such that $A \lor b_{\beta} \in \epsilon$. **Definition 3.1.5.** A pair (X, ϵ) consisting of X and a family ϵ of nonzero fuzzy independent sets of X satisfying laws given in the definitions 3.1.2, 3.1.3 and 3.1.4 is called a fuzzy independence structure and the members of ϵ are independent sets.

Definition 3.1.6. A fuzzy point p_{α} depends on a fuzzy subset A, if $p_{\alpha} \in A$ or if there is a finite fuzzy independent subset $B \subseteq A$ such that $B \lor p_{\alpha}$ is dependent (i.e., it does not belong to ϵ).

Definition 3.1.7. A flat is a fuzzy subset containing each fuzzy point which depends on it.

Example 3.1.8. Let $X = \{1, 2, 3\}, I = [0, 1].$

Consider the fuzzy convexity C on X as $C = \{\underline{0}, \underline{1}, G \in I^X | G \leq F\}$ where $F = 1_{0.6} \lor 2_{0.7}$.

 $F = 1_{0.6} \lor 2_{0.7}.$ Let $F_1 = 1_{0.52}, 1_{0.51} \in F_1, 1'_{0.51}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.49 & \text{if } x = 1\\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$ Then $1_{0.51} \notin Co(F_1 \setminus 1_{0.51})$ where $F_1 \setminus 1_{0.51} = F_1 \land 1'_{0.51}.$

Similarly, we can see that $x_{\alpha} \notin Co(F_1 \setminus x_{\alpha})$ for all $x_{\alpha} \in F_1$, $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$.

That is $F_1 = 1_{0.52}$ is convexly independent. In a similar way, we can see that the fuzzy points $x_{\alpha} \in F$, $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ are convexly independent.

Also the fuzzy points $1_{\alpha}, \alpha \leq 0.6, 2_{\beta}, \beta \leq 0.7$ depend on F as they belong to F.

Consider the fuzzy point $2_{0.8} \notin F$. Then

$$1_{0.51} \in Co((1_{0.52} \vee 2_{0.8}) \setminus 1_{0.51}) = \underline{1}$$

where $1_{0.52}$ is a convexly independent set $\subseteq F$ and $1_{0.51} \in 1_{0.52} \lor 2_{0.8}$.

i.e. the fuzzy subset $1_{0.52} \vee 2_{0.8}$ is dependent.

i.e. the fuzzy point $2_{0.8}$ depends on F.

Similarly, we can see that the fuzzy points 1_{α_1} , $\alpha_1 > 0.6$, 2_{β_1} , $\beta_1 > 0.7$ and 3_1 depend on *F*.

i.e., $1_1 \lor 2_1 \lor 3_1$ (i.e., <u>1</u>) is a fuzzy subset containing all the fuzzy points depending on it. i.e., <u>1</u> is a flat.

Here F is not a flat as it does not contain all fuzzy points depending on that.

Example 3.1.9. Let $X = \{1, 2, 3\}$. Consider the fuzzy convexity C on X as $C = I^X$. Let $\epsilon = \{F \subseteq I^X | F(x) > \frac{1}{2}\}.$

By non-degeneracy law, $x_1 \in \epsilon$ where $x \in X$. By finitary law, all x_{α} 's, $\alpha > \frac{1}{2} \in \epsilon$. Clearly $\underline{1} \in \epsilon$ as $x_{\alpha} \notin Co(\underline{1} \setminus x_{\alpha}), x_{\alpha} \in \underline{1}, \alpha > \frac{1}{2}$.

Let $A, B \in \epsilon$ and # supp (A) > #supp(B).

Let $b_{\beta} \in A \setminus B = A \wedge B'$.

Then
$$B \lor b_{\beta} \in \epsilon$$
 since $z_{\gamma} \not\in Co((B \lor b_{\beta}) \backslash z_{\gamma})$

where $z_{\gamma} \in B \lor b_{\beta}, \gamma > \frac{1}{2}$.

Then the collection of independent sets is $\epsilon = \{F \in I^X | F(x) > \frac{1}{2}\}$ and (X, ϵ) from an independence structure.

3.2 Some properties of fuzzy independent structures

Here we discuss some relations between fuzzy matroids and fuzzy independent structures. It is proved that fuzzy matroids form fuzzy independent structures as in the crisp case. But the converse need not be true and it is illustrated by a counter example.

Proposition 3.2.1 (Fuzzy transitive law of dependence). Let A be a finite fuzzy subset of a fuzzy independence structure. If x_{α} depends on A and y_{β} depends on $A \lor x_{\alpha}$, then y_{β} depends on A.

Proof. We consider the non-trivial case for establishing this result. Let $x_{\alpha} \notin A$ and $y_{\beta} \notin x_{\alpha} \lor A$. As y_{β} depends on $A \lor x_{\alpha}$, there is an independent fuzzy subset $F \subseteq A \lor x_{\alpha}$ such that $F \lor y_{\beta}$ is dependent. We fix one with card (supp F) maximal. As x_{α} depends on A, there is an independent set $G \subseteq A$ with $G \lor x_{\alpha}$ dependent set. If card (supp G) < card (supp F) by the replacement law, there exists some fuzzy point $b_{\gamma} \in F \land G'$ such that $G \lor b_{\gamma} \in \epsilon$. Also we can see that $b_{\gamma} \notin A$. Since if $b_{\gamma} \in A$, \exists an independent set $G \subseteq A$ such that $G \lor b_{\gamma}$ is dependent which is a contradiction.

 \therefore card (supp G) \ge card (supp F).

If y_{β} does not depend on $A, G \vee y_{\beta}$ is independent.

As card (supp $(G \lor y_{\beta})$) > card (supp F) by replacement law, \exists a fuzzy point say $z_{\delta} \in (G \lor y_{\beta}) \land F'$ such that $F \lor z_{\delta} \in \epsilon$. But $z_{\delta} \neq y_{\beta}$, since $F \lor y_{\beta}$ is dependent and $z_{\delta} \notin A$.

i.e., y_{β} depends on A.

Definition 3.2.2. The collection ϵ of independent sets of a fuzzy matroid is said to satisfy the strong replacement law provided for any two fuzzy subsets $A, B \in \epsilon$ with card (supp B) > card (supp A), there is a fuzzy point $b_{\beta} \in B \setminus A$ with $A \vee b_{\beta} \in \epsilon$.

Proposition 3.2.3. For a fuzzy convexity space (X, C),

$$Co(A) = \lor \{Co(F) | F \subseteq A, F \text{ is finite}\}$$

Proof. <u>Case 1.</u> Let A be a finite fuzzy subset. We have $F \subseteq A$.

i.e.
$$Co(F) \subseteq Co(A) \quad \forall F$$

i.e. $\lor Co(F) \leq Co(A)$ (3.2.1)

Let $x_{\alpha} \in Co(A)$.

i.e.
$$Co(A)(x) \ge \alpha$$
.
i.e. $(Co(\lor F))(x) \ge \alpha$
i.e. $Co(F)(x) \ge \alpha$ for some $F \subseteq \lor F = A$
i.e. $(\lor Co(F))(x) \ge (Co(F))(x) \ge \alpha$.
i.e. $(\lor Co(F))(x) \ge \alpha$.
i.e. $(\lor Co(F))(x) \ge \alpha$.
i.e. $x_{\alpha} \in \lor Co(F)$.
i.e. $Co(A) \le \lor Co(F)$.
(3.2.2)

From (3.2.1) & (3.2.2), we have $Co(A) = \{ \forall Co(F) | F \subseteq A, F \text{ is finite} \}.$

<u>Case 2.</u> Let A be an infinite fuzzy subset. *i.e.*, card (supp A) is infinite. Here we apply transfinite induction on card (supp A). We assume that the result is true for all fuzzy subsets which has smaller cardinality of its support than the cardinality of the supp (A). For each $a \in X$, let P(a) be a fuzzy subset whose support is the set of all points in X less than 'a' where

$$P(a)(x) = \begin{cases} A(x), & \forall x \in \text{supp } P(a) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Well-order supp (A) such that card (supp P(a)) < card (supp A). The fuzzy subsets Co(P(a)), $a \in X$ form a chain in C. Let $C = \lor Co(P(a)) \in C$, since C being a fuzzy convexity, nested union of fuzzy convex sets is convex.

$$A = \lor P(a) \le \lor Co(P(a)) = C$$

i.e., $A \le C$
i.e., $Co(A) \le Co(C) = C$
i.e., $Co(A) \le C$ (3.2.3)

```
Also P(a) \subseteq A.
i.e., Co(P(a)) \subseteq Co(A) \ \forall a \in X
```

i.e.,
$$C = \lor Co(P(a)) \le Co(A)$$
. *i.e.*, $C \le Co(A)$ (3.2.4)

From (3.2.3) & (3.2.4), C = Co(A). By induction, $Co(P(a)) = \lor \{Co(F)|F \le P(a), F \text{ finite}\}$, since card (supp P(a)) < card (supp A). *i.e.*, $Co(A) = C = \lor Co(P(a)) = \lor \{\lor Co(F)|F \le P(a), F \text{ finite}\}$ $= \lor \{Co(F)|F \le A, F \text{ finite}\}$, since $F \le P(a) \le A$. $= \lor \{Co(F)|F \subseteq A, F \text{ finite}\}$

Proposition 3.2.4. Let X be a set. Let $h : I_{fin}^X \to I^X$ be an operator satisfying the following conditions.

(i) $h(\underline{0}) = \underline{0}$; (ii) $F \leq h(F)$ for each finite fuzzy subset F; (iii) For $F, G \in I_{f_{fin}}^{X}, F \leq G \Rightarrow h(F) \leq h(G)$; (iv) h(h(F)) = h(F); (v) $h(\vee F_{i}) = \vee_{i}h(F_{i})$ for any family of fuzzy subsets $\{F_{i}, i \in I\}$ which is totally ordered by inclusion. Then there is precisely one convexity on I^{X} with the hull operator equal to h on I_{fin}^{X} ,

i.e.,
$$C = \{F | h(F) = F\}.$$

Conversely, the hull operator of any convexity on I^X satisfies the conditions (i–v).

Proof. (i) <u>Necessity part</u> By (i), $h(\underline{0}) = 0$ *i.e.*, $\underline{0} \in C$. By (ii),

$$\underline{1} \le h(\underline{1}) \tag{3.2.5}$$

but

$$h(\underline{1}) \le \underline{1} \quad \text{always} \tag{3.2.6}$$

From (3.2.5) & (3.2.6),

$$h(\underline{1}) = \underline{1}$$
 i.e., $\underline{1} \in \mathcal{C}$.

To show $\wedge F_i \in C$ whenever $F_i \in C$, we have to show $h(\wedge F_i) = \wedge F_i$.

$$F_i \in \mathcal{C} \Rightarrow h(F_i) = F_i$$
 (3.2.7)

By (ii),

$$\wedge F_i \le h(\wedge F_i) \tag{3.2.8}$$

We know $\wedge F_i \leq F_i \ \forall i$. By (iii),

$$h(\wedge F_i) \le h(F_i) = F_i \quad \forall i \quad \text{by (3.2.7)}$$

i.e., $h(\wedge F_i) \le \wedge F_i$ (3.2.9)

From (3.2.8) & (3.2.9), $h(\wedge F_i) = \wedge F_i \ i.e., \ \wedge F_i \in C$.

To show $\forall F_i \in C$ for any nested union of $F_i \in C$, we have to show $h(\forall F_i) = \forall F_i$.

By (v), $h(\forall F_i) = \forall h(F_i) = \forall F_i$ by (3.2.7).

i.e. C is a fuzzy convexity and (X, C) is a fuzzy convexity space.

Uniqueness follows from proposition 3.2.3.

(ii) Sufficiency part Since $\underline{0} \in C$, $h(\underline{0}) = \underline{0}$ *i.e.* condition (i). If $F \in C$, h(F) = F, *i.e.* $F \le h(F) \forall F \in C$. *i.e.* Condition (ii). If $F, G \in C$, then h(F) = F, h(G) = G. $F \le G \Rightarrow h(F) \le h(G)$. *i.e.* condition (iii). If $F \in C$, h(F) = F, then h(h(F)) = h(F). If F_i 's are totally ordered and $\in C$, $h(F_i) = F_i$. Since C is a convexity, $F_i \in C \Rightarrow \lor F_i \in C$. *i.e.*, $h(\lor F_i) = \lor F_i = \lor h(F_i)$.

i.e., the hull operator associated with the convexity satisfies conditions (i-v). \Box

Lemma 3.2.5. For a fuzzy matroid, the collection ϵ of independent sets satisfy the non-degeneacy law.

Proof. Here we show that a_1 's are convexly independent.

 $\underbrace{\text{Case 1. When } \alpha < \frac{1}{2}, 1 - \alpha > \frac{1}{2}}_{2} \\
a_{1-\alpha} > a_{\frac{1}{2}} > a_{\alpha} \\
i.e., a_{\alpha} < a_{1-\alpha} \leq Co(a_{1-\alpha}) = Co(a_{1} \setminus a_{\alpha}) \\
i.e., a_{1} \text{ is convexly dependent.} \\
\underbrace{\text{Case 2. When } \alpha = \frac{1}{2}, a_{\frac{1}{2}} \in Co(a_{\frac{1}{2}}) = Co(a_{1} \setminus a_{\alpha}) \\
i.e., a_{1} \text{ is convexly dependent.} \\
\underbrace{\text{Case 3. When } \alpha > \frac{1}{2}, 1 - \alpha < \frac{1}{2} \\
a_{1-\alpha} < a_{\frac{1}{2}}, Co(a_{1-\alpha}) < Co(a_{\frac{1}{2}})$ (3.2.10)

Also $a_{\frac{1}{2}} < a_{\alpha}$,

i.e..
$$Co(a_{\frac{1}{2}}) < Co(a_{\alpha})$$
 (3.2.11)

From (3.2.10) and (3.2.11),

$$Co(a_{1-\alpha}) < Co(a_{\frac{1}{\alpha}}) < Co(a_{\alpha})$$
 (3.2.12)

We show $Co(a_{1-\alpha}) < a_{\alpha}$. For this, suppose the contrary *i.e.* $Co(a_{1-\alpha}) \ge a_{\alpha}$. *i.e.* $Co(a_{\alpha}) \le Co(a_{1-\alpha})$ which is a contradiction to (3.2.12). *i.e.*, $Co(a_{1-\alpha}) < a_{\alpha}$. *i.e.*, $a_{\alpha} > Co(a_{1-\alpha}) = Co(a_1 \setminus a_{\alpha})$. *i.e.*, a_1 is convexly independent.

Lemma 3.2.6. The collection ϵ of independent sets of a fuzzy matroid satisfies the finitary law.

Proof. Let a fuzzy subset A be convexly independent.

i.e., $x_{\alpha} \notin Co(A \setminus x_{\alpha}) \forall x_{\alpha} \in A, \alpha > \frac{1}{2}$ *i.e.*, $x_{\alpha} \notin Co(F \setminus x_{\alpha}) \forall F \leq A$, and $x_{\alpha} \in F, \alpha > \frac{1}{2}$

i.e., F is convexly independent.

i.e., A is convexly independent \Rightarrow a subset F of A is convexly independent.

To show A is convexly independent whenever F is convexly independent, on the contrary we assume that A is convexly dependent.

i.e.,
$$x_{\alpha} \in Co(A \setminus x_{\alpha})$$
 for some $x_{\alpha} \in A$, $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$.

i.e., $x_{\alpha} \in Co(F \setminus x_{\alpha})$ for some $F \subseteq A$ and $x_{\alpha} \in F$, $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$,

since $Co(A \setminus x_{\alpha}) = \forall \{Co(F \setminus x_{\alpha}) | F \setminus x_{\alpha} \leq A \setminus x_{\alpha}, F \setminus x_{\alpha} \text{ finite} \}$ by proposition 3.2.3.

i.e., F is convexly dependent.

i.e., a fuzzy subset F of A is convexly independent \Rightarrow A is convexly independent.

32

Hence the finitary law.

Lemma 3.2.7. The collection of convexly \star independent fuzzy subsets of a fuzzy matroid satisfies the strong replacement law.

Proof. Let A, B be two fuzzy independent subsets with card (supp B) > card (supp A). To prove the strong replacement law, on the contrary we assume that

 $x_{\alpha} \lor A \text{ is dependent } \forall x_{\alpha} \in B.$ (3.2.13)

Let $b_{\beta} \in B$ be fixed. Then either $b_{\beta} \in Co(A)$ or $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A)$. <u>Step 1</u> We show $B \subseteq Co(A)$.

Let $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A)$. Then $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$ where $a_{\gamma} \in A$. We know

$$(b_{\beta} \lor A) \setminus a_{\gamma} = (b_{\beta} \lor A) \land a'_{\gamma}$$
$$= (b_{\beta} \land a'_{\gamma}) \lor (A \land a'_{\gamma})$$
$$= b_{\beta} \lor (A \land a'_{\gamma})$$

By (3.2.13), $b_{\beta} \lor A$ is dependent. *i.e.*, for some $a_{\gamma} \in b_{\beta} \lor A$,

$$a_{\gamma} \in Co((b_{\beta} \lor A) \setminus a_{\gamma}) = Co(b_{\beta} \lor (A \land a_{\gamma})).$$

Hence $a_{\gamma} \not\in Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$, since A is independent.

i.e., if $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A)$, we have an $a_{\gamma} \in A$, so that $a_{\gamma} \in Co(b_{\beta} \vee (A \wedge a'_{\gamma}))$.

Since $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$ and $a_{\gamma} \notin Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$, by the exchange law $b_{\beta} \in Co(a_{\gamma} \vee (A \wedge a_{\gamma}')) \subseteq Co(A)$.

i.e. in all cases we have $b_{\beta} \in Co(A)$. *i.e.* $B \subseteq Co(A)$.

If A is an infinite fuzzy subset *i.e.* if card (supp A) is infinite, then A and B can be rearranged such that it is finite (preserving (3.2.13)).

We know $B \subseteq Co(A) = \lor \{Co(F(b_{\beta})) | F(b_{\beta}) \subseteq A, F(b_{\beta}) \text{ is finite}\}$, by proposi-

tion 3.2.3

i.e. $\forall b_{\beta} \in B$, there is a finite set $F(b_{\beta}) \subseteq A$ with $b_{\beta} \in Co(F(b_{\beta}))$.

If card (supp A) is infinite, the set of all finite subsets of supp (A) is infinite.

i.e. card $(2_{\text{fin}}^{\text{supp}(A)}) = \text{card} (\text{supp } A)$. Then we can see that card (supp B) > card $(2_{\text{fin}}^{\text{supp}(A)})$. Hence some finite set $F \subseteq A$ occurs as $F(b_{\beta})$ for infinitely many $b_{\beta} \in B$. Take this F instead of A and the corresponding infinite subset of B instead of B. Then reduce B further to a finite size larger than card (supp F).

Again assume from now on that card (supp A) < card (supp B) < ∞ . Among all possible pairs A, B of this kind satisfying (3.2.13), consider one for which the number $n = \text{card} (\text{supp } B) - \text{card} (\text{supp } (B \land A))$ is smallest. Here n > 0.

Fix $b_{\beta} \in B \setminus A$. Let $F \subseteq A$ be minimal with respect to the property that $b_{\beta} \in Co(F)$.

Step 2 We show that $F \not\subseteq B$.

On the contrary we assume that $F \subseteq B$. Then $F \lor b_3 \subseteq B \lor b_3 = B$ for all $b_\beta \in B$.

i.e. $F \vee b_{\beta} \leq B$.

i.e. Since B is independent, $F \vee b_{\beta}$ is independent by finitary law which is a contradiction to (3.2.13).

 $F \not\subseteq B$.

Hence there is a point $a_{\gamma} \in F \setminus B$ where $F(a) \leq 1 - \gamma$.

Now $b_{\beta} \notin Co(F \setminus a_{\gamma})$ by the minimality of F and $a_{\gamma} \notin Co(F \setminus a_{\gamma})$ by the independence of A since $F \leq A$ and A is independent.

Step 3 We show that $Co(a_{\gamma} \vee (F \setminus a_{\gamma})) = Co(F)$.

We know

$$\begin{aligned} a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a_{\gamma}') &= (a_{\gamma} \lor F) \land (a_{\gamma} \lor a_{\gamma}') \\ &= F \land (a_{\gamma} \lor a_{\gamma}') \\ &\leq F. \end{aligned}$$

i.e.,
$$Co(a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a'_{\gamma})) \le Co(F)$$
 (3.2.14)

Next we show $F \leq a_{\gamma} \vee (F \wedge a'_{\gamma})$ iff $F(a) \leq 1 - \gamma$. Let $F \leq a_{\gamma} \vee (F \wedge a'_{\gamma})$ *i.e.* when x = a, $F(a) \leq \gamma \vee (F(a) \wedge (1 - \gamma))$ *i.e.* $F(a) \leq \gamma$ or $F(a) \leq F(a) \wedge (1 - \gamma)$ *i.e.* $F(a) \leq F(a) \wedge (1 - \gamma)$ as $F(a) \leq \gamma$ is not true. *i.e.* $F(a) \leq F(a) \wedge (1 - \gamma) \leq F(a)$. *i.e.* $F(a) = F(a) \wedge (1 - \gamma)$. *i.e.* $F(a) \leq 1 - \gamma$.

i.e.
$$F \le a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a'_{\gamma}) \Rightarrow F(a) \le 1 - \gamma$$
 (3.2.15)

Conversely, let $F(a) \leq 1 - \gamma$.

i.e.,
$$(a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a'_{\gamma}))(a) = \gamma \lor (F(a) \land (1 - \gamma)) = \gamma \lor F(a) = F(a)$$

Also $(a_{\gamma} \lor F \land a'_{\gamma})(x) = F(x) \forall x \neq a$

i.e. when
$$F(a) \le 1 - \gamma$$
, $F = a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a'_{\gamma})$ (3.2.16)

From (3.2.15) & (3.2.16) we have

$$F \le a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a_{\gamma}') \text{ where } F(a) \le 1 - \gamma$$

i.e. $Co(F) \le Co(a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a_{\gamma}'))$ (3.2.17)

From (3.2.14) & (3.2.17), we have the equality

i.e.
$$b_{\beta} \in Co(F) = Co(a_{\gamma} \lor (F \land a'_{\gamma}))$$

Then by the fuzzy exchange property of the matroid

$$a_{\gamma} \in Co(b_{\beta} \vee (F \setminus a_{\gamma})) \leq Co(b_{\beta} \vee (A \setminus a_{\gamma})).$$

Step 4 We show $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$.

On the contrary, we assume

$$b_{\beta} \in Co(A \backslash a_{\gamma}) \tag{3.2.18}$$

We know, $A \setminus a_{\gamma} \leq Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$

$$b_{\beta} \lor (A \setminus a_{\gamma}) \le b_{\beta} \lor Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma}) = Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$$
 by (3.2.18)

i.e. $a_{\gamma} \in Co(b_{\beta} \vee (A \setminus a_{\gamma})) \leq Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$ *i.e.* $a_{\gamma} \in Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$ which is a contradiction to the independence of A. \therefore Our assumption is wrong.

i.e., $b_{\beta} \not\in Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$.

Step 5 We show $A' = b_d \lor (A \setminus a_\gamma)$ is independent.

i.e. we have to show that

$$b_{\beta} \not\in Co(A' \backslash b_{\beta}) \tag{3.2.19}$$

and

$$a'_{\gamma} \notin Co(A' \setminus a'_{\gamma})$$
 (3.2.20)

where $a'_{\gamma} \neq b_{\beta}$.

For proving (3.2.19), on the contrary we assume that $b_{\beta} \in Co(A' \setminus b_{\beta})$.

$$b_{\beta} \in Co(A' \setminus b_{\beta}) = Co((b_{\beta} \vee (A \setminus a_{\gamma})) \setminus b_{\beta})$$
$$= Co((b_{\beta} \vee (A \setminus a_{\gamma})) \wedge b'_{\beta}).$$

Also $b_{\beta} \notin A \setminus a_{\gamma}$ as $b_{\beta} \notin A$. Hence $b_{\beta} \vee (A \setminus a_{\gamma}) \leq B$. *i.e.*, $Co((b_{\beta} \vee (A \setminus a_{\gamma})) \wedge b'_{\beta}) \leq Co(B \wedge b'_{\beta})$. *i.e.*, $b_{\beta} \in Co((b_{\beta} \vee (A \setminus a_{\gamma})) \wedge b'_{\beta}) \leq Co(B \wedge b'_{\beta})$. *i.e.*, $b_{\beta} \in Co(B \wedge b'_{\beta})$ which is not true since B is independent.

 \therefore Our assumption is wrong.

i.e., $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A' \setminus b_{\beta})$, *i.e.*, (3.2.19)

For proving (3.2.20), on the contrary, we assume that for some $a'_{\gamma} \in A'$ different from b_{β} , it is true that

$$\begin{aligned} a'_{\gamma} &\in Co(A' \backslash a'_{\gamma}) \\ &= Co((b_{\beta} \lor (A \backslash a_{\gamma})) \backslash a'_{\gamma}) \\ &= Co(b_{\beta} \lor ((A \backslash a_{\gamma}) \backslash a'_{\gamma})) \end{aligned}$$

By the fuzzy exchange law,

$$b_{\beta} \in Co(a_{\gamma}' \lor ((A \backslash a_{\gamma}) \backslash a_{\gamma}')) \le Co(A \backslash a_{\gamma})$$

i.e., $b_{\beta} \in Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$ which is a contradiction to $b_{\beta} \notin Co(A \setminus a_{\gamma})$.

: our assumption is wrong.

i.e. $a'_{\gamma} \notin Co(A' \setminus a'_{\gamma})$ *i.e.* A' is independent. <u>Step 6</u> We show $Co(A') = Co(A \lor b_{\beta}) = Co(A)$. We know $b_{\beta} \in Co(A)$. *i.e.* $b_{\beta} \lor A \leq A \lor Co(A) = Co(A)$.

$$i.e. \ Co(b_{\beta} \lor A) \le Co(A) \tag{3.2.21}$$

Also $A \leq A \vee b_{\beta}$.

$$Co(A) \le Co(b_{\beta} \lor A) \tag{3.2.22}$$

From (3.2.21) & (3.2.22),

$$Co(A) = Co(A \lor b_{\beta}) \tag{3.2.23}$$

We know $A \in Co(A')$ or $A \leq Co(A')$.

$$Co(A) \le Co(A') \tag{3.2.24}$$

Also $A \setminus a_{\gamma} \leq A$, $A' = b_{\beta} \lor (A \setminus a_{\gamma}) \leq b_{\beta} \lor A$.

$$i.e.Co(A') \le Co(b_{\beta} \lor A) \tag{3.2.25}$$

From (3.2.23), (3.2.24) & (3.2.25)

$$Co(A \lor b_{\beta}) = Co(A) \le Co(A') \le Co(b_{\beta} \lor A)$$

i.e.
$$Co(A') = Co(A \lor b_{\beta}) = Co(A)$$

i.e. each point of B is dependent on A' as well. This establishes (3.2.13) for A', B whereas the independent set A' has one more point in common with support of B in its support.

Then card (supp B) – card (supp $(B \setminus A)$) < n which is a contradiction with the definition of n.

 \therefore our first assumption (3.2.13) is wrong. *i.e.*, we have the strong replacement law.

Remark 3.2.8. The collection ϵ of independent fuzzy subsets of a fuzzy matroid satisfies the replacement law.

From the Lemmas 3.2.5, 3.2.6 and remark 3.2.8 we have the following result.

Theorem 3.2.9. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy matroid. Then the collection ϵ of all independent fuzzy subsets of X satisfies the non-degeneacy, finitary and replacement laws and hence it is a fuzzy independence structure.

Proposition 3.2.10. Let (X, ϵ) be a fuzzy independence structure. Then the flats of (X, ϵ) form a fuzzy convex structure such that the convex hull of a fuzzy subset is the collection of all fuzzy points depending on it.

Proof. We define an operator $h: I_{f_{\text{tin}}}^X \to I^X$ as follows:

 $h(\underline{0}) = \underline{0}$ and for a non zero fuzzy subset $F \in I_{\text{fin}}^X$, let h(F) be the set of all fuzzy points depending on F.

Let $p_{\alpha} \in h(p_{\alpha_1} \vee p_{\alpha_2} \vee \cdots \vee p_{\alpha_n})$ and $p_{\alpha_i}, i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ depends on the finite fuzzy subset F. Let $G_0 = F, G_1 = F \vee p_{\alpha_1}, G_2 = F \vee (p_{\alpha_1} \vee p_{\alpha_2}), \dots,$ $G_n = F \vee (p_{\alpha_1} \vee p_{\alpha_2} \vee \cdots \vee p_{\alpha_n}).$

 p_{α_1} depends on $F = G_0$. p_{α_2} depends on $F = G_0 \Rightarrow p_{\alpha_2}$ depends on $F \lor p_{\alpha_1} = G_1$ by finitary law. Similarly p_{α_3} depends on $G_2 \cdots$, p_{α_n} depends on G_{n-1} . Also $p_{\alpha} \in h(p_{\alpha_1} \lor \cdots \lor p_{\alpha_n}) \Rightarrow p_{\alpha}$ depends on $p_{\alpha_1} \lor p_{\alpha_2} \lor \cdots \lor p_{\alpha_n}$. $\therefore p_{\alpha}$ depends on $F \lor (p_{\alpha_1} \lor \cdots \lor p_{\alpha_n}) = G_n$ by finitary law. *i.e.* p_{α} depends on $G_n = G_{n-1} \lor p_{\alpha_n}$ where as p_{α_n} depends on G_{n-1} .

Then by proposition 3.2.1, p_{α} depends on $G_{n-1} = G_{n-2} \vee p_{\alpha_{n-1}}$. Similarly we can see that p_{α} depends on $G_{n-2}, \ldots, p_{\alpha}$ depends on $G_1 = F \vee p_{\alpha_1}$.

Again since p_{α_1} depends on F and p_{α} depends on

$$G_1 = F \lor p_{\alpha_1}, \quad p_{\alpha} \text{ depends on } F$$
 (3.2.26)

Hence $p_{\alpha} \in F$. Also $p_{\alpha} \in F \Rightarrow p_{\alpha}$ depends on F. *i.e.* $p_{\alpha} \in h(F)$. *i.e.* $F \leq h(F)$.

Let $F \leq G$

i.e.
$$p_{\alpha} \in F \Rightarrow p_{\alpha} \in G$$

i.e. $p_{\alpha} \in h(F) \Rightarrow p_{\alpha} \in h(G)$ *i.e.* $h(F) \leq h(G)$
i.e. $h(F) \leq h(G)$ whenever $F \leq G$.

Next we show h(h(F)) = h(F).

Clearly
$$h(F) \le h(h(F))$$
 (3.2.27)

Let $p_{\alpha} \in h(h(F))$ *i.e.* p_{α} depends on the set of all points depending on F. Then we have proved that p_{α} depends on F.

i.e. $p_{\alpha} \in h(F)$. *i.e.* $h(h(F)) \le h(F)$ (3.2.28)

From (3.2.27) & (3.2.28), we have h(h(F)) = h(F).

Now we prove $h(\vee_i F_i) = \vee_i h(F_i)$.

Let $p_{\alpha} \in h(\vee F_i)$

i.e. p_{α} depends on $\forall F_i$.

i.e. p_{α} depends on $F_1 \vee F_2 \vee \ldots$

Since F_i depends on F_i and p_{α} depends on $\forall F_i$, by proposition 3.2.1, p_{α} depends on F_i .

i.e.,
$$p_{\alpha} \in h(F_i)$$

i.e., $p_{\alpha} \in \forall h(F_i)$
i.e.,
 $h(\forall F_i) \leq \forall h(F_i).$ (3.2.29)

Clearly

$$\forall h(F_i) \le h(\forall F_i). \tag{3.2.30}$$

From (3.2.29) and (3.2.30), $h(\lor F_i) = \lor h(F_i)$

i.e., the operator satisfies all the conditions of Prop. 3.2.4. \therefore there is a well defined convex structure with h as a restricted hull operator. *i.e.*, for a non-zero fuzzy subset $A \in I^X$,

$$Co(A) = \lor \{h(F) | F \subseteq A, F \text{ is finite} \}$$

= { $x_{\alpha} | x_{\alpha}$ depends on F}
= { $x_{\alpha} | x_{\alpha}$ depends on A}, since $F \subseteq A$.

i.e., corresponding fuzzy subsets which are convex are exactly flats. \Box

Proposition 3.2.11. The fuzzy convex structure formed by the flats of (X, ϵ) satis-

fies the fuzzy exchange law for two fuzzy points p_{α} , q_{β} with p = q and $\beta < \alpha$.

Proof. Let $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin Co(A)$ and let $p_{\alpha} \in Co(q_{\beta} \lor A)$ where $A \in I^{X}$.

$$p_{\alpha} \notin Co(A) \Rightarrow p_{\alpha} \notin A \text{ i.e., } A(p) < \alpha.$$
 (3.2.31)

Similarly

$$q_{\beta} \notin Co(A) \Rightarrow A(q) < \beta. \tag{3.2.32}$$

Step 1 We claim $p_{\alpha} \notin q_{\beta} \lor A$.

For proving this, assume the contrary that $p_{\alpha} \in q_{\beta} \lor A$.

$$p_{\alpha} \in q_{\beta} \lor A \Rightarrow \begin{cases} \alpha \leq \beta \lor A(p), & \text{if } x = p = q \\ \alpha \leq A(p), & \text{if } x = p \neq q \\ 0 \leq A(x), & \text{if } x \neq p \neq q. \end{cases}$$

i.e., when $x = p \neq q$, we have $A(p) \ge \alpha$ which is a contradiction to (3.2.31).

: Our assumption is wrong.

i.e., $p_{\alpha} \notin q_{\beta} \lor A$.

<u>Step 2</u> We claim $Co(q_{\beta} \vee A)(p) > \beta$.

By step 1, we have $p_{\alpha} \notin q_{\beta} \lor A$.

 $\therefore p_{\alpha}(x) > (q_{\beta} \lor A)(x)$ for some x. (x can be only p)

i.e., $\alpha > q_{\beta}(p) \lor A(p)$.

i.e., $\alpha > \beta$ when q = p and $\alpha > A(p)$ always.

i.e., when
$$x = p = q$$
. $\beta < \alpha$. (3.2.33)

 $\beta < \alpha$ and $p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \lor A) \Rightarrow \beta < \alpha \leq Co(q_{\beta} \lor A)(p)$ *i.e.*, $Co(q_{\beta} \lor A)(p) > \beta$. Step 3 We claim $(q_{\beta} \lor A)(p) \le (p_{\alpha} \lor A)(q)$ when p = q.

We assume the contrary that $(q_{\beta} \vee A)(p) > (p_{\alpha} \vee A)(q)$ when p = q*i.e.*, $\beta \vee A(p) > \alpha \vee A(q) = \alpha$ when p = q*i.e.*, $\beta \vee A(p) > \alpha$ which is not true. *i.e.*, We have $(q_{\beta} \vee A)(p) \leq (p_{\alpha} \vee A)(q)$ when p = q*i.e.* $(q_{\beta} \vee A)(p) \leq (p_{\alpha} \vee A)(q)$ when p = q

i.e., $(q_{\beta} \lor A)(p) \leq (p_{\alpha} \lor A)(p)$. Also when $p = q \neq x$, we have $(q_{\beta} \lor A)(x) \leq (p_{\alpha} \lor A)(x)$. *i.e.*, $(q_{\beta} \lor A)(x) \leq (p_{\alpha} \lor A)(x) \forall x$ *i.e.*, $q_{\beta} \lor A \leq p_{\alpha} \lor A$. *i.e.*, $Co(q_{\beta} \lor A) \leq Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)$ *i.e.*, $B < Co(q_{\beta} \lor A)(p) \leq Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)(p)$ *i.e.*, $Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)(p) > \beta$. Step 4 We claim $q_{\beta} \in Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)$ when p = q. Suppose the contrary. *i.e.*, $Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)(q) < \beta$ when p = q. *i.e.*, $(p_{\alpha} \lor A)(q) < \beta$ when p = q. *i.e.*, $\alpha \lor A(q) < \beta$ *i.e.*, $\alpha < \beta$ which is a contradiction to (3.2.33). \therefore Our assumption is wrong. *i.e.*, when p = q, we have $q_{\beta} \in Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)$ when p = q.

i.e., the exchange law is satisfied when the support of the fuzzy points p_{α} , q_{β} are same.

Remark 3.2.12. In the crisp case, flats of (X, ϵ) form a fuzzy matroid. In the fuzzy case, this need not be true. In the above proposition, when $\beta > \alpha$, flats of (X, ϵ) do not necessarily form a fuzzy matroid as they do not satisfy the fuzzy exchange law. For illustrating this, consider the following counter example.

Counter example 3.2.13. Let $X = \{1, 2, 3\}, \alpha, \beta \in (0, 1]$.

Then $\epsilon = \{F \subseteq I^X | F(x) > \frac{1}{2}, x \in X\}, (X, \epsilon)$ form a fuzzy independence structure.

Flats of $\epsilon = \{G \in \epsilon | G \leq F \in \epsilon\}$, which form a fuzzy convex structure. Consider the fuzzy subset $A = 1_{\frac{1}{2}} \vee 2_{\frac{1}{4}}$. Let $p_{\alpha} = 3_{\frac{1}{4}}, q_{\beta} = 3_{\frac{3}{4}}$. Here $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin Co(A)$. Also p = q where $\beta = \frac{3}{4} > \frac{1}{4} = \alpha$.

$$\begin{aligned} 3_{\frac{1}{4}} &= p_{\alpha} \in Co(q_{\beta} \lor A) = Co(3_{\frac{3}{4}} \lor 1_{\frac{1}{2}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{4}}) \\ &= \{ \text{ all fuzzy subsets } \leq 3_{\frac{3}{4}} \lor 1_{\frac{1}{2}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{4}} \} \\ \text{But } 3_{\frac{3}{4}} &= q_{\beta} \notin Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A) = Co(3_{\frac{1}{4}} \lor 1_{\frac{1}{2}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{4}}) \\ &= \{ \text{ all fuzzy pts depending on } 3_{\frac{1}{4}} \lor 1_{\frac{1}{2}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{4}} \} \end{aligned}$$

i.e., $p_{\alpha} \in Co(q_{\beta} \lor A)$ doesn't imply $q_{\beta} \in Co(p_{\alpha} \lor A)$ *i.e.*, exchange law is not satisfied

i.e., flats of the fuzzy independence structure do not form a matroid.

Chapter 4

A study on various fuzzy matroids from vector spaces

CONTENTS

4.1 Fuzzy matroids from vector spaces

4.2 Properties of Fuzzy Matroids

Convex structures are unambiguously determined by their hull operator and it is possible to classify convex structure by the properties of the hull operator. As a result, matroid is defined as a convexity space satisfying the exchange law or equivalently, flats of the independent structure form matroids. In [60], matroids from vector spaces are discussed and based on this, some characterizations are obtained. In this chapter, the notions of fuzzy linear, fuzzy affine and fuzzy projective matroids are introduced and we present some of their properties.

4.1 Fuzzy matroids from vector spaces

Analogous to different types of matroids derived from vector spaces as given in [60], we introduce certain fuzzy matroids and discuss some of their properties.

Definition 4.1.1. Let V be a vector space over a field F. A non-zero fuzzy subset A of V is called a fuzzy linear set provided for each pair of points $x, y \in V$ and for each $\alpha, \beta \in F$,

$$A(\alpha x + \beta y) \ge A(x) \land A(y).$$

Proposition 4.1.2. Let V be a vector space over a field F and $V_0 = V \setminus \{0\}$. The collection of all traces on V_0 of all fuzzy linear subsets of V [i.e. the collection of all fuzzy linear subsets of V obtained by deleting '0' from their support] is a fuzzy linear convexity C of V_0 .

Proof. Let $A_i \in C$ for all *i*. We show that $\wedge A_i$ is a fuzzy linear set. Since A_i 's are

fuzzy linear sets,

$$A_i(\alpha x + \beta y) \ge A_i(x) \land A_i(y) \quad \forall i \in I$$

then $(\land_i A_i)(\alpha x + \beta y) = \land_i (A_i(\alpha x + \beta y))$
 $\ge \land [A_i(x) \land A_i(y)]$
 $= (\land_i A_i(x)) \land (\land_i A_i(y))$

i.e., $\wedge_i A_i$ is a fuzzy linear set $\in C$.

Next, we show that nested union of fuzzy linear sets is a fuzzy linear set. i.e., we show $\bigvee_i A_i$ is a fuzzy linear set whenever $\{A_i | i \in I\}$ is a family of totally ordered fuzzy linear sets $\in C$. We know

$$(\forall A_i)(\alpha x + \beta y) = \forall_i A_i(\alpha x + \beta y)$$

$$\geq \forall_i ((A_i(x) \land A_i(y)))$$
(4.1.1)

Next we show that

$$\lor_i(A_i(x) \land A_i(y)) \ge (\lor A_i)(x) \land (\lor A_i)(y)$$

Let

$$z = (\lor A_i)(x) \land (\lor A_i)(y)$$

i.e., $z \le (\lor A_i)(x)$ and $z \le (\lor A_i)(y)$

Let $\epsilon > 0$ be any +ve number.

Then there exists j, k such that $z - \epsilon < A_j(x), z - \epsilon < A_k(y)$.

Being totally ordered, either $A_j \leq A_k$ or $A_k \leq A_j$.

Assume w.l.o.g, $A_j \leq A_k$.

$$\therefore z - \epsilon < A_k(x) \text{ and } z - \epsilon < A_k(y)$$

$$\therefore z - \epsilon < A_k(x) \land A_k(y) \le \lor (A_i(x) \land A_i(y))$$

This is true for all $\epsilon > 0$

$$\therefore z \leq \bigvee_i (A_i(x) \land A_i(y))$$

i.e., $\bigvee_i (A_i(x) \land A_i(y)) \geq (\lor A_i)(x) \land (\lor A_i)(y)$
i.e., By (4.1.1), $(\lor A_i)(\alpha x + \beta y) \geq \bigvee_i (A_i(x) \land A_i(y))$
 $\geq (\lor A_i)(x) \land (\lor A_i)(y)$

Consider a fuzzy linear set F on V defined as

$$F(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Then $\operatorname{supp} F = \{0\}$.

If we remove '0' from supp F, we obtain zero function $\underline{0}$ which clearly $\in C$.

Also we know every fuzzy linear set $F \subseteq \underline{1}$ and since nested union of fuzzy linear sets is a fuzzy linear set, $\underline{1} \in C$.

Therefore C is a fuzzy linear convexity on V_0 .

Note 4.1.3. We use 'lin' instead of 'Co' to describe the corresponding hull operator. Let $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin lin(A)$. Here the fuzzy exchange law means

$$(lin(q_{\beta} \lor A))(\alpha p + \beta q) \ge \alpha \land \beta \Rightarrow (lin(p_{\alpha} \lor A))(\alpha p + \beta q) \ge \alpha \land \beta.$$

Definition 4.1.4. Fuzzy linear matroid is a fuzzy linear convexity space which satisfies the fuzzy exchange law.

Definition 4.1.5. Let V be a vector space over a field F. A non-zero fuzzy subset A of V is called a fuzzy affine set provided for each pair of points $x, y \in V$ and for each $\alpha, \beta \in F$, $A(\alpha x + \beta y) \ge A(x) \land A(y)$ where $\alpha + \beta = 1$.

Proposition 4.1.6. Let V be a vector space over a field F. Let $V_0 = V \setminus \{0\}$. The collection of all traces on V_0 of all fuzzy affine sets of V [i.e. the collection of all fuzzy affine sets of V obtained by deleting '0' from their support] is a fuzzy affine convexity C of V_0 .

Proof. Proof is similar to that of Proposition 4.1.2.

Remark 4.1.7. Clearly fuzzy affine sets are fuzzy linear sets. Let the affine hull of a fuzzy subset A be denoted by aff A.

Let $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin \operatorname{aff}(A)$. Hence the fuzzy exchange law means

$$(\operatorname{aff}(q_{\beta} \lor A))(\alpha p + \beta q) \ge \alpha \land \beta \Rightarrow (\operatorname{aff}(p_{\alpha} \lor A))(\alpha p + \beta q) \ge \alpha \land \beta$$

where $\alpha + \beta = 1$.

Definition 4.1.8. Fuzzy affine matroid is a fuzzy affine convexity space which satisfies the fuzzy exchange law.

Definition 4.1.9. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convexity space and let R be a equivalence relation on X. Consider the quotient set X/R which consists of all R-equivalence classes and the quotient function $q: X \to X/R$ which assigns to a point of X, its R-equivalence class.

Define $C/R = \{F \in I^{X/R}/q^{-1}(F) \text{ is a fuzzy convex set on } X\}.$ We can show that C/R is a convexity on X/R. 5

For,

clearly,
$$\underline{0}, \underline{1} \in C/R$$
.
Let $\{F_i | i \in I\} \subseteq C/R$

Then $\wedge_i F_i$ and nested union of F_i are in C/R whenever $F_i \in C/R$ since by definition 1.3.1

$$q^{-1}(\wedge F_i)(x) = (\wedge F_i)(q(x))$$
$$= (\wedge F_i)[x]$$
and $(q^{-1}(\vee F_i))(x) = (\vee F_i)(q(x)) = (\vee F_i)[x]$

That is fuzzy convex sets of X/R are the images of *R*-saturated fuzzy convex sets of *X*. The resulting fuzzy convex structure (X/R, C/R) is called a fuzzy quotient space of *X* where C/R is called a fuzzy quotient convexity.

Definition 4.1.10. Consider a fuzzy linear matroid in a vector space V over a field K. Let $V_0 = V \setminus \{0\}$. Define a equivalence relation on V_0 as follows. For any $x, y \in V_0$,

$$x \equiv y \Leftrightarrow \exists t \in k \setminus \{0\}, y = tx$$

and $\mu(tx) \ge \mu(x)$ where μ is a fuzzy subset on V_0 .

Let P denote the fuzzy quotient space. Here the quotient function q: $V_0 \rightarrow P$ is FCP by the definition of the quotient function. It is also FCC since the image of a fuzzy linear set is fuzzy linear under a fuzzy quotient map.

For, here we show that $q(\mu)$ is a fuzzy linear set. *i.e.*, we show that $(q(\mu))[\alpha x + \beta y] \ge (q(\mu))[x] \land (q(\mu))[y].$

By definition 1.3.1,

$$(q(\mu))[\alpha x + \beta y] = \bigvee_{\alpha x + \beta y} \{ \mu(\alpha x + \beta y) / q(\alpha x + \beta y) = [\alpha x + \beta y] \}$$

$$\geq \bigvee (\mu(x) \land \mu(y)) \text{ Since } \mu \text{ is a fuzzy linear set} \qquad (4.1.2)$$

Next we show that

$$\lor(\mu(x) \land \mu(y)) \ge (\lor\mu(x)) \land (\lor\mu(y)) \tag{4.1.3}$$

Let $z = (\lor \mu(x)) \land (\lor \mu(y))$ i.e., $z \le \lor \mu(x)$ and $z \le \lor \mu(y)$ i.e., $z \le \mu(x_1)$ for some $\mu(x_1)$ and $z \le \mu(y_1)$ for some $\mu(y_1)$ i.e., $z \le \mu(x_1) \land \mu(y_1)$ i.e., $z \le \lor (\mu(x) \land \mu(y))$

Hence the inequality (4.1.3).

By (4.1.2) and (4.1.3),

$$(q(\mu))[\alpha x + \beta y] \ge (\lor \mu(x)) \land (\lor \mu(y)).$$

That is

$$q(\mu)[\alpha x + \beta y] \ge (q(\mu))[x] \land (q(\mu))[y]$$

P is a fuzzy matroid by Proposition 2.2.3, called the fuzzy projective matroid over K and its fuzzy convex sets are called fuzzy projective sets.

Let the hull of a fuzzy subset A be denoted by Pr(A).

4.2 Properties of Fuzzy Matroids

Proposition 4.2.1. A fuzzy convexity space (X, C) is JHC \Leftrightarrow for each non-zero finite fuzzy subset F and for each $a_{\alpha} \notin Co(F)$,

$$Co(a_{\alpha} \lor F) \le \lor_{x_{\beta}} \{ Co(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}) | x_{\beta} \in Co(F) \}$$

Proof. Assume that the fuzzy convexity space (X, C) is JHC and F is a non-zero finite fuzzy subset F, then

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) \leq \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee \operatorname{Co}(F)) = \bigvee_{x_{\beta}} \{\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta}) | x_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(F)\}.$$
 by JHC.

i.e.,
$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) \le \lor_{x_{\beta}} \{ \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}) | x_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(F) \}.$$
 (4.2.1)

Conversely, assume that (4.2.1) is true for a non-zero finite fuzzy subset F. If F is not a finite fuzzy subset, then by Proposition 3.2.3

$$Co(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \lor \{Co(C) | C \le a_{\alpha} \lor F.C \text{ finite} \}$$
$$\le \lor_{x_{\beta}} \{Co(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}) | x_{\beta} \in F \in Co(F) \}$$

i.e., if F is any non-zero fuzzy subset, particularly, if F is any non-zero fuzzy convex set (4.2.1) is true.

To show the reverse inequality corresponding to (4.2.1), assume

$$y_{\gamma} \in \bigvee_{x_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$$

i.e., $y_{\gamma} \in \text{ some } \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\gamma}), x_{\gamma} \in F$
i.e., $y_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F)$
i.e., $\bigvee_{x_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}) \leq \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F)$ (4.2.2)

From (4.2.1) and (4.2.2), we have $\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) = \vee \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta})$. i.e., (X, \mathcal{C}) is JHC.

Proof. Let A be a fuzzy linear set and $x_{\beta} \in A$. Let $a_{\alpha} \in I^{X}$. Then $a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta} \in a_{\alpha} \lor A$ for every $x_{\beta} \in A$. *i.e.*, $\lim (a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}) \in \lim (a_{\alpha} \lor A)$. *i.e.*, $\lor_{x_{\beta}} \lim (a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}) \in \lim (a_{\alpha} \lor A)$ for every $x_{\beta} \in A$

i.e.,
$$\lim (a_{\alpha} \lor A) \ge \lor_{x_{\beta}} \lim (a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}).$$
 (4.2.3)

To show the reverse inequality, assume that $z_{\delta} \in \lim (a_{\alpha} \vee A)$ where z is a linear combination of the members in support in $\lim (a_{\alpha} \vee A)$.

i.e., z is a linear combination of the members in support of $(a_{\alpha} \lor A)$.

i.e., z is a linear combination of the members in support of $(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$ for some $x_{\beta} \in A$ where x is a linear combination of the members in support of A since A is a fuzzy linear set.

i.e., $z_{\delta} \in \lim (a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$ for some $x_{\beta} \in A$. *i.e.*, $z_{\delta} \in \lor \lim (a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$ where $x_{\beta} \in A$.

i.e.,
$$\lim (a_{\alpha} \lor A) \le \lor_{x_{\beta}} \lim (a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}).$$
 (4.2.4)

54

From (4.2.3) and (4.2.4), we have the equality. *i.e.*, fuzzy linear matroid is join-hull commutative.

Proposition 4.2.3. A fuzzy affine matroid is join-hull commutative.

Proof. Proof is similar to that of Proposition 4.2.2.

Proposition 4.2.4. A fuzzy affine projective matroid is join-hull commutative.

Proof. A fuzzy projective matroid is JHC by Propositions 2.2.3 and 4.2.2. \Box

Definition 4.2.5. A fuzzy subset of the type Co(F), where F is a finite fuzzy subset is called a fuzzy polytope.

Proposition 4.2.6. If A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_n are non-zero fuzzy convex sets in a JHC convexity space, then

 $Co(\vee_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}) = \vee \{Co(a_{\alpha_{1}} \vee a_{\alpha_{2}} \vee \cdots \otimes a_{\alpha_{n}}) \forall i = 1, \dots, n, a_{\alpha_{i}} \in A_{i}\}$

Proof. It is enough to prove the result for two non-zero fuzzy polytopes F = Co(F) and G = Co(G) with # supp F = n, # supp G = m, finite. We prove the result by induction on n + m. The result is true if n + m = 2 (i.e., if n = 1 = m). Assume n + m > 2 and the result is true for values < n + m. For n = 1, the result is true by the definition of JHC..

Let n > 1 and let

$$x_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(F \lor G) = \operatorname{Co}(\operatorname{Co}(F) \lor \operatorname{Co}(G)).$$

Let $q_{\beta_1} \in F = Co(F)$ be a fixed fuzzy point, then

$$\begin{aligned} x_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(F \lor G) \\ &= \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta_1} \lor (G \lor (F \backslash q_1))) \\ &\in \operatorname{Co}[q_{\beta_1} \lor \operatorname{Co}(G \lor (F \backslash q_1))] \\ &\in \operatorname{Co}[q_{\beta_1} \lor a_{\gamma} \lor b_{\delta}] \end{aligned}$$

where $a_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus q_1)$, $b_{\delta} \in \operatorname{Co}(G)$ by induction hypothesis. Here $a_{\gamma} \vee q_{\beta_1} \in \operatorname{Co}(a_{\gamma} \vee q_{\beta_1}) \in \operatorname{Co}(F)$. i.e.,

$$x_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}((q_{\beta_{1}} \lor a_{\gamma}) \lor b_{\delta})$$

$$\in \operatorname{Co}(\operatorname{Co}(F)) \lor b_{\delta})$$

$$\in \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor b_{\delta}) \text{ where } a_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(F)$$

$$\subseteq \lor \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor b_{\delta}).$$

i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Co}(F \lor G) \subseteq \lor \{\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor b_{\delta}) | a_{\alpha} \in F, b_{\delta} \in G\}.$$

The reverse inequality is obvious.

Hence the result.

As a result of the above proposition we have the following definition.

Definition 4.2.7. A fuzzy convexity space is weakly JHC if for each pair of fuzzy convex sets $A, B \in I^X$ where $A \wedge B \neq \underline{0}$,

$$Co(A \lor B) = \lor \{ Co(a_{\alpha} \lor b_{\beta}) | a_{\alpha} \in A, b_{\beta} \in B \}$$

Remark 4.2.8. By Proposition 4.2.6, we can see that a JHC fuzzy convexity space is a weakly JHC space.

By the finitary law, the union of independent sets totally ordered by fuzzy inclusion is independent. By Zorn's lemma, three exists a maximal element. This motivates to intriduce the following definition in the fuzzy context.

Definition 4.2.9. Basis of a flat A in a fuzzy convexity space is any maximal fuzzy convexly independent set B in the support of A.

Number of elements in B is called the rank of A and is denoted by d(A). i.e., d(A) = #B.

Proposition 4.2.10. Let (X, C) be a weakly JHC matroid. Let $A, B \in I^X$ be two non-disjoint flats. If d(C) denotes the rank of a flat C, then the equality $d(A \lor B) + d(A \land B) = d(A) + d(B)$ need not be true.

Counter example 4.2.11. Let $X = \{1, 2, 3\}$, I = [0, 1]. Consider the convexity C on X as $C = \mathcal{P}(X)$. Consider a fuzzy convex structure on X as

 $\mathcal{C}_1 = \{\underline{0}, \underline{1}, \mathbf{1}_{0,2}, \mathbf{1}_{3}, \mathbf{1}_{0,2} \lor \mathbf{2}_{0,6}\}$

which can be shown to be a fuzzy matroid.

For, first we show that the fuzzy exchange law is satisfied.

Let $p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin \operatorname{Co}(A)$ and $p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \lor A)$.

Case 1. Let $Co(A) = 1_{0.2}$.

(i) Let $\operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \vee A) = 1_{\frac{3}{4}}$.

then A has to be 1_{α} for some $\alpha \leq 0.2$ and q_{β} has to be 1_{β} for some β such that $(0.2 < \beta \leq \frac{3}{4})$.

i.e.,
$$p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \lor A) = 1_{\frac{3}{4}} \Rightarrow q_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor A)$$

(ii) Let Co $(q_{\beta} \lor A) = 1_{0,2} \lor 2_{0,6}$ then

$$p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \lor A) = 1_{0,2} \lor 2_{0,6}$$
$$\Rightarrow q_{\beta} \le 2_{\beta}, \ \beta \le 0.6$$
i.e., $q_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor A).$

(iii) Let Co $(q_{\beta} \lor A) = \underline{1}$ then

$$p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \lor A) = \underline{1} \Rightarrow q_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor A)$$

Case 2. Let Co $(A) = 1_{\frac{3}{4}}$.

$$p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin \operatorname{Co}(A) \Rightarrow p_{\alpha}, q_{\beta} \notin A.$$

Here A has to be 1_{α} for some α such that $0.2 < \alpha \leq \frac{3}{4}$ then

$$p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \lor A) = \underline{1} \Rightarrow q_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor A) = \underline{1}.$$

Case 3. Let Co $(A) = 1_{0.2} \vee 2_{0.6}$,

then A has to be $1_{\alpha} \vee 2_{\beta}$ for some α, β such that $\alpha \leq 0.2, \beta \leq 0.6$ i.e., $p_{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Co}(q_{\beta} \vee A) = \underline{1} \Rightarrow q_{\beta} \in \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee A) = \underline{1}$. Also C_1 is a weakly JHC matroid.

For,

consider the fuzzy convex sets $A = 1_{0.2}, B = 1_{\frac{3}{4}}$. then $Co(A \lor B) = Co(B) = B$.

i.e., $\vee \{ \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee b_{\beta}) | a_{\alpha} \in A, b_{\beta} \in B \} = B = \operatorname{Co}(A \vee B)$ where $A \wedge B \neq \underline{0}$. Next consider the fuzzy convex sets B and $C = 1_{0,2} \vee 2_{0,6}$ where $B \wedge C = 1_{0,2} \neq \underline{0}$. then $\operatorname{Co}(B \vee C) = \operatorname{Co}(1_{\frac{3}{4}} \vee 2_{0,6}) = \underline{1}$. $\vee \{ \mathbf{Co}(b_{\beta} \vee c_{\gamma}) | b_{\beta} \in B, c_{\gamma} \in C \} = \underline{1} = Co(B \vee C)$

Similarly we get the same equality if we consider the other pairs of fuzzy convex sets in C_1 .

i.e., (X, C_1) is a weakly JHC fuzzy matroid.

Now consider two non-disjoint flats $A = 1_{\frac{3}{4}}$ and $C = 1_{0.2} \vee 2_{0.6}$ then $A \vee C = 1_{\frac{3}{4}} \vee 2_{0.6}$, $Co(A \vee C) = \underline{1}$. $d(Co(A \vee C)) = d(\underline{1}) = 3$, since # (maximal independent set in supp $\underline{1}$ (i.e. X)) is 3.

Similarly, $d(A \wedge C) = 1$, d(A) = 1, d(C) = 2.

i.e., $d(\text{Co}(A \lor C)) + d(A \land C) = 3 + 1 = 4 \neq 3 = 1 + 2 = d(A) + d(C)$

i.e., there is no equality.

Remark 4.2.12. (1) In Proposition 4.2.10, if (X, C) is a fuzzy JHC space, then the equality need not be true.

This follows from the remark 4.2.8 and the Counter eg 4.2.11. (2) Even for disjoint flats, the equality in Proposition 4.2.10 need not be true as shown by the following Counter eg. 4.2.13.

Counter example 4.2.13. Consider C and C₁ as in Counter eg. 4.2.11. Let $A = 1_{\frac{3}{4}}$ and $B = 2_{0.6}$ be two disjoint flats. $A \lor B = 1_{\frac{3}{4}} \lor 2_{0.6}$. Co $(A \lor B) = \underline{1}$. $d(Co(A \lor B)) = 3$, d(A) = 1 = d(B).

 $i.e.,d(Co(A \lor B)) + d(A \land B) > d(A) + d(B).$

That is no equality.

Note 4.2.14. *In Proposition 4.2.10 the equality holds only when* $A \subseteq B$ *or* $B \subseteq A$ *.*

Chapter 5

Various notions of dependence in a Fuzzy Convexity Space

CONTENTS

5.1 Certain properties of a fuzzy convex structure and related definitions

5.2 Types of dependence

5.3 Inter-relations between different types of dependance

Some of the results of this chapter will appear in the Oriental Journal of Applied Mathematics.

59

Various notions of dependence of a non-empty finite set in a crisp convexity space and based on this, some characterization of the classical convex invariants namely Helly number, Caratheodary number, Radon number and exchange number are available in literature (c.f. [60]). In this chapter, we try to extend different types of dependence defined in [60] to the fuzzy context and study their interrelations.

5.1 Certain properties of a fuzzy convex structure and related definitions

Here we introduce the fuzzy analogues of the properties of the crisp convex structure like cone-union property given in [60].

Definition 5.1.1. A fuzzy convex structure satisfies the cone-union property (CUP) if the following holds: If $F, F_1, F_2, \ldots, F_n \in I^X$ are fuzzy convex sets with $F \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n F_i$ and if $a_{\alpha} \in I^X$, then

$$Co(a_{\alpha} \vee F) \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^{n} Co(a_{\alpha} \vee F_{i})$$

Definition 5.1.2. Let X be a set and let $I : X \times X \to I^X$ be a function with the following properties.

- *1. fuzzy extensive law:* $a, b \in I(a, b)$ *[i.e.* I(a, b)(a) > 0, I(a, b)(b) > 0*].*
- 2. fuzzy symmetry law: I(a, b) = I(b, a).

Then I is called a fuzzy interval operator on X. The resulting pair (X, I) is called a fuzzy interval space and I(a, b) is called the fuzzy interval between a and b for each $a, b \in X$.

Definition 5.1.3. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convex structure and let I be a fuzzy interval on X. Then C is said to be generated by I if $I(a, b) \in C$ for all $a, b \in X$.

The pair (X, C) is a fuzzy convex structure generated by I.

Definition 5.1.4. A fuzzy convex structure generated by the fuzzy interval operator is said to satisfy the Ramification property if for all $b, c, d \in X$, $c \notin I(b, d)$ and $d \notin I(b, c) \Rightarrow I(b, c) \land I(b, d) = b_{\alpha}$ for some $\alpha > 0$.

[Here $c \notin I(b, d)$ means I(b, d)(c) = 0]

Definition 5.1.5. A fuzzy interval I(a, b) on a fuzzy convex structure is decomposable provided for each $x \in I(a, b)$, $I(a, x) \lor I(x, b) = I(a, b)$ and $I(a, x) \land I(x, b) = x_{\alpha}$ for some $\alpha > 0$.

Example 5.1.6. Let $X = \{3, 5\}$.

Consider the fuzzy interval operator defined on X as follows:

 $I(3,3) = 3_{\alpha}, I(5,5) = 5_{\beta}, I(3,5) = I(5,3) = 3_{\alpha} \lor 5_{\beta}$ where α, β are chosen elements in (0,1].

Here for $3 \in I(3,5)$, $I(3,3) \vee I(3,5) = 3_{\alpha} \vee (3_{\alpha} \vee 5_{\beta}) = 3_{\alpha} \vee 5_{\beta} = I(3,5)$ and $I(3,3) \wedge I(3,5) = 3_{\alpha} \wedge (3_{\alpha} \vee 5_{\beta}) = 3_{\alpha}$.

Also for $5 \in I(3,5)$, $I(3,5) \vee I(5,5) = I(3,5)$ and $I(3,5) \wedge I(5,5) = 5_3$.

Similarly $I(5,5) \lor I(5,3) = I(5,3)$ and $I(5,5) \land I(5,3) = 5_{\beta}$,

where $5 \in I(5,3)$,

 $I(5,3) \lor I(3,3) = I(5,3)$ and $I(5,3) \land I(3,3) = 3_{\alpha}$

where $3 \in I(5, 3)$ *.*

i.e., the fuzzy interval I(a, b) is decomposable.

Example 5.1.7. *Let* X = R.

Consider a fuzzy interval operative $I : R \times R \to I^R$ defined as $I(a, b) = [a, b]_{\frac{1}{2}}$. Let $b, c, d \in R$. Let $c \notin I(b, d)$ and $d \notin I(b, c)$. i.e. I(b, d)(c) = 0 and I(b, c)(d) = 0. We show that $I(b, d) \wedge I(b, c) = b_{\frac{1}{2}}$.

$$[I(b, d) \land I(b, c)](c) = I(b, d)(c) \land I(b, c)(c) = 0$$
$$[I(b, d) \land I(b, c)](d) = I(b, d)(d) \land I(b, c)(d) = 0.$$

Let $x \neq b, c, d$.

$$[I(b,d) \wedge I(b,c)](x) = [I(b,d)](x) \wedge [I(b,c)](x).$$
(5.1.1)

If $x \in I(b, c)$, then $x \notin I(b, d)$.

For proving this, suppose on the contrary that $x \in I(b, d)$. *i.e.* $x \in [b, d]$. *i.e.* $x \in [b, c]$ as $x \in I(b, c)$ and $x \in [b, d]$ which means that either $b \le c \le d$ or $b \le d \le c$.

Also $b \le c \le d$ means $c \in [b, d]$.

i.e. $c \in I(b, d)$ which is not possible by our assumption that $c \notin I(b, d)$.

Similarly, $b \le d \le c \Rightarrow d \in I(b, c)$ which is not true.

i.e. $x \notin I(b, d)$.

i.e. if $x \in I(b, c)$, then $x \notin I(b, d)$.

In a similar way we can see that, if $x \in I(b, d)$, then $x \notin I(b, c)$.

So, by (5.1.1), $[I(b, d) \wedge I(b, c)](x) = 0$.

When x = b, $[I(b, d) \land I(b, c)](x) = b_{1/2}$

i.e., when $c \notin I(b, d)$ and $d \notin I(b, c)$.

$$I(b, d) \wedge I(b, c) = b_{1/2}$$

Hence the ramification property.

5.2 Types of dependence

In this section, we introduce the fuzzy analogues of different types of dependence introduced in [60] and study their interrelations.

Definition 5.2.1. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convex structure. A nonzero finite fuzzy subset F of X is Helly dependent (or H-dependent) provided $\wedge_{a_{\alpha} \in F} Co(F \setminus a_{\alpha}) \neq 0$ where $F \setminus a_{\alpha} = F \wedge a'_{\alpha}$, $a'_{\alpha} = 1 - a_{\alpha}$ and otherwise it is Helly independent.

The Helly number of X is the smallest 'n' such that for each non zero finite fuzzy subset F of X with cardinality in its support at least n + 1 is Helly dependent.

Definition 5.2.2. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convex structure. A non-zero finite fuzzy subset F of X is Radon dependent (or R-dependent) if there exists a Radon partition $\{F_1, F_2\}$ of F (i.e. $F_1 \wedge F_2 = \underline{0}, F_1 \vee F_2 = F$) such that $Co(F_1) \wedge Co(F_2) \neq \underline{0}$ and if for every partition $\{F_1, F_2\}$ of F, $Co(F_1) \wedge Co(F_2) = \underline{0}$, F is called Rindependent.

The Radon number of X is the smallest 'n' such that for each non zero finite fuzzy subset F of X with cardinality in its support at least n + 1 is Radon dependent.

Definition 5.2.3. For a fuzzy convex structure (X, C), a nonzero finite fuzzy subset F of X is Caratheodory dependent (or C-dependent) provided $Co(F) \subseteq \bigvee_{a_{\alpha} \in F} Co(F \setminus a_{\alpha})$ and otherwise it is C-independent.

The Caratheodory number of X is the smallest 'n' such that for each non zero finite fuzzy subset F of X with cardinality in its support at least n + 1 is Caratheodory dependent.

Definition 5.2.4. For a fuzzy convex structure (X, C), a nonzero finite fuzzy subset F of X is Exchange dependent (or E-dependent) provided for each $p_{\alpha} \in F$,

$$Co(F \setminus p_{\alpha}) \leq \bigvee_{a_{\beta} \in F} \{Co(F \setminus a_{\beta}) | a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}, a \neq p\}$$

otherwise it is E-independent.

The Exchange number of X is the smallest 'n' such that for each non zero finite fuzzy subset F of X with cardinality in its support at least n+1 is Exchange dependent.

The fuzzy analogues of the classical convex invariants like Helly number, Caratheodory number, Radon number and Exchange number form an important area of study in fuzzy convexity theory. As a background of future research in this area, we have defined the above concepts in the fuzzy context. In this thesis, we are not doing further work in this area.

Example 5.2.5. Let $X = \{1, 3, 5\}$.

Consider the fuzzy convexity C on X as $C = \{\underline{0}, \underline{1}, G\}$ where $G \leq F = 5_{0.6} \vee 3_{0.1}$

(i) Let $a_{\alpha} \in F$ then $F \setminus a_{\alpha} \neq \underline{0}$ for all $a_{\alpha} \in F$. i.e., $Co(F \setminus a_{\alpha}) \neq \underline{0}$ for all $a_{\alpha} \in F$ i.e., $\wedge_{a_{\alpha} \in F} Co(F \setminus a_{\alpha}) \neq \underline{0}$ i.e., F is H-dependent.

(ii) Let
$$a_{\alpha} = 5_{0.4} \in F$$
.
Then $F \setminus a_{\alpha} = F \setminus 5_{0.4} = F$.
i.e., Co $(F \setminus a_{\alpha}) = Co (F)$.
For other $a_{\alpha} \in F$, Co $(F \setminus a_{\alpha}) \leq Co (F)$.
i.e., $\bigvee_{a_{\alpha} \in F} Co (F \setminus a_{\alpha}) = Co (F)$.

- *i.e.*, $Co(F) \leq \bigvee_{a_{\alpha} \in F} Co(F \setminus a_{\alpha})$ is true for the finite fuzzy subset F. *i.e.*, F is C-dependent.
- (iii) Consider the Radon partial $\{F_1, F_2\}$ of $F = 5_{0.6} \lor 3_{0.4}$ where $F_1 = 5_{0.6}$. $F_2 = 3_{0.4}$ (Here this is the only one partition of F.) then

$$Co(F_1) \wedge Co(F_2) = 5_{0.6} \wedge 3_{0.4} = \underline{0}.$$

i.e. F is R-independent.

But if we consider the fuzzy convexity C as $C = \{\underline{0}, \underline{1}, F\}$, then F is R-dependent, since $Co(F_1) = F = Co(F_2)$ and $Co(F_1) \wedge Co(F_2) = F \neq 0$.

(iv) Let $p_{\alpha} \in F$.

Then $F \setminus p_{\alpha} \leq F$ *so that*

$$Co(F \setminus p_{\alpha}) \le Co(F) \quad \forall p_{\alpha} \in F$$
 (5.2.1)

 $p_{\alpha} \in F$ means $p_{\alpha} = 5_{\alpha_1}, \alpha_1 \leq 0.6$ or $p_{\alpha} = 3_{\alpha_2}, \alpha_2 \leq 0.4$.

Case 1: Let $p_{\alpha} = 5_{\alpha_1}, \alpha_1 \le 0.6$.

$$a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}, \ a \neq p \Rightarrow a_{\beta} = 3_{\beta_1}, \ \beta_1 \le 0.4.$$

When $\beta_1 = 0.4$, $1 - \beta_1 = 0.6$. *i.e.* $F \setminus 3_{\beta_1} = F$. *i.e.* $Co(F \setminus 3_{\beta_1}) = Co(F)$. Also $Co(F \setminus a_\beta) \leq Co(F)$ for the remaining a_β 's except $a_\beta = 3_{\beta_1} = 3_{0,4}$. *i.e.* $\forall_{a_\beta} Co(F \setminus a_\beta) = Co(F)$ i.e. when $p_{\alpha} = 5_{\alpha_1}, \alpha_1 \leq 0.6$.

$$Co(F \setminus p_{\alpha}) \le \bigvee_{a_{\beta}} \{ Co(F \setminus a_{\beta}) | a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}, a \neq p \}$$

Case 2: Let $p_{\alpha} = 3_{\alpha_2}$, $\alpha_2 \leq 0.4$. $a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}$, $a \neq p \Rightarrow a_{\beta} = 5_{\beta_2}$, $\beta_2 \leq 0.6$. When $\beta_2 = 0.4$, $1 - \beta_2 = 0.6$. then $F \setminus 5_{\beta_2} = F$. *i.e.*, $Co(F \setminus 5_{\beta_2}) = Co(F)$. Also $Co(F \setminus a_{\beta}) \leq Co(F)$ for the remaining a_{β} 's except $a_{\beta} = 5_{\beta_2} = 5_{0.4}$. *i.e.*, $\forall_{a_{\beta}}Co(F \setminus a_{\beta}) = Co(F)$. *i.e.*, when $p_{\alpha} = 3_{\alpha_2}$, $\alpha_2 \leq 0.4$, $Co(F \setminus p_{\alpha}) \leq_{a_{\beta}} \{Co(F(a_{\beta}) | a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}, a \neq p\}$. *i.e.*, $\forall p_{\alpha} \in F$,

$$Co(F \setminus p_{\alpha}) \leq \bigvee_{a_{\beta}} \{Co(F \setminus a_{\beta}) | a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}, a \neq p\}$$

That is F is E-dependent.

Remark 5.2.6. In the crisp case, if (X, C) is a JHC space having the Ramification property and if $F \subseteq X$ is a finite R-independent set, then each pair of subsets $F_1, F_2 \subseteq F$, we have the equality $Co(F_1) \bigcap Co(F_2) = Co(F_1 \bigcap F_2)$. But in the fuzzy case, the above equality need not be true. As an illustration of this fact, consider the following counter example.

Counter example 5.2.7. *Let* $X = \{1, 2, 3\}$ *.*

Define the fuzzy interval opeator I as $I(1, 1) = 1_{\frac{1}{2}}, I(2, 2) = 2_{\frac{1}{4}}, I(3, 3) = 3_{\frac{1}{6}}, I(1, 2) = I(2, 1) = 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{3}}, I(1, 3) = I(3, 1) = 1_{\frac{1}{4}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{4}}, I(2, 3) = I(3, 2) = 2_{\frac{1}{5}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{5}}.$

Fuzzy convexity generated by I is

$$C = \{\underline{0}, \underline{1}, 1_{\frac{1}{2}}, 2_{\frac{1}{4}}, 3_{\frac{1}{6}}, 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{3}}, 1_{\frac{1}{4}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{4}}, 2_{\frac{1}{5}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{5}}, 1_{\frac{1}{3}}, 1_{\frac{1}{4}}, 2_{\frac{1}{5}}, 3_{\frac{1}{5}}\}$$

Let $F = 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \vee 2_{\frac{1}{5}} \vee 3_{\frac{1}{7}}$ which is finite. Consider $F_1, F_2 \subseteq F$ where $F_1 = 1_{\frac{1}{5}} \vee 2_{\frac{1}{6}} \vee 3_{\frac{1}{7}}, F_2 = 1_{\frac{1}{3}}$ Then

$$Co (F_1 \wedge F_2) = 1_{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(5.2.2)

$$\operatorname{Co}(F_1) \wedge \operatorname{Co}(F_2) = 1_{\frac{1}{2}}$$
 (5.2.3)

From (5.2.2) and (5.2.3),

$$\operatorname{Co}(F_1 \wedge F_2) \leq \operatorname{Co}(F_1) \wedge \operatorname{Co}(F_2)$$

i.e., no equality as in the crisp case.

Here F is R-independent since $Co(F_1) \wedge Co(F_2) = 0$ for the possible partitions.

- 1. $\{F_1 = 1_{\frac{1}{2}}, F_2 = 2_{\frac{1}{5}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{7}}\}$
- 2. $\{F_1 = 2_{\frac{1}{5}}, F_2 = 1_{\frac{1}{4}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{2}}\}$
- 3. $\{F_1 = 3_{\frac{1}{7}}, F_2 = 1_{\frac{1}{7}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{5}}\}$

Also $I(1,2) \wedge I(1,3) = 1_{\frac{1}{4}}$ where $3 \notin I(1,2) 2 \notin I(1,3)$, $I(2,3) \wedge I(1,3) = 3_{\frac{1}{5}}$ where $1 \notin I(2,3)$ and $2 \notin I(1,3)$ and $I(2,3) \wedge I(1,2) = 2_{\frac{1}{5}}$ where $1 \notin I(2,3)$ and $3 \notin I(1,2)$ i.e., (X, C) has the Ramification property. Now we show that (X, C) is JHC. i.e., we have to show that for a fuzzy convex set F,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) = \vee_{x_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta})$$
(5.2.4)

Let $a_{\alpha} \in I^X$, then $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}, 2_{\beta}$ or 3_{ν} . Consider $F = 1_{\frac{1}{2}} \in C$. Let $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$. When $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \operatorname{Co}(F) = F = \lor_{a_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$$

When $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \underline{1} = \lor_{x_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$$

i.e., when $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$, (5.2.4) is true for the fuzzy convex set $1_{\frac{1}{2}}$ corresponding to the cases (1) $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$ (2) $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$. Also (5.2.4) is true when $a_{\alpha} = 2_{\beta}$ or 3_{γ} , Since

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \underline{1} = \lor_{x_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$$

The same argument follows for the fuzzy subsets $2_{\frac{1}{4}}, 3_{\frac{1}{6}} \in C$. Consider $F = 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{3}} \in C$. Let $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$. When $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{3}$, $\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = F = \lor_{x_{\beta}}\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$. When $\alpha > \frac{1}{3}$, $\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \underline{1} = \lor_{x_{\beta}}\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$. i.e. when $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$, (5.2.4) is true for the fuzzy convex set $1_{\frac{1}{3}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{3}}$ corresponding to the cases (1) $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{3}$ (2) $\alpha > \frac{1}{3}$. A similar proof follows when $a_{\alpha} = 2_{\beta}$ or 3_{ν} . Also (5.2.4) is true for $1_{\frac{1}{4}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{4}}, 2_{\frac{1}{5}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{5}} \in C$. i.e., we have to show that for a fuzzy convex set F,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) = \vee_{x_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta})$$
(5.2.4)

Let $a_{\alpha} \in I^{X}$, then $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}, 2_{\beta}$ or 3_{ν} . Consider $F = 1_{\frac{1}{2}} \in C$. Let $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$. When $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) = \operatorname{Co}(F) = F = \bigvee_{a_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta})$$

When $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) = \underline{1} = \bigvee_{x_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta})$$

i.e., when $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$, (5.2.4) is true for the fuzzy convex set $1_{\frac{1}{2}}$ corresponding to the cases (1) $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$ (2) $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$. Also (5.2.4) is true when $a_{\alpha} = 2_{\beta}$ or 3_{γ} , Since

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) = \underline{1} = \bigvee_{x_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta})$$

The same argument follows for the fuzzy subsets $2_{\frac{1}{4}}, 3_{\frac{1}{6}} \in C$. Consider $F = 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{3}} \in C$. Let $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$. When $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{3}$, $\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = F = \lor_{x_{\beta}}\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$ When $\alpha > \frac{1}{3}$, $\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \underline{1} = \lor_{x_{\beta}}\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$. i.e. when $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$, (5.2.4) is true for the fuzzy convex set $1_{\frac{1}{3}} \lor 2_{\frac{1}{3}}$ corresponding to the cases (1) $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{3}$ (2) $\alpha > \frac{1}{3}$. A similar proof follows when $a_{\alpha} = 2_{\beta}$ or 3_{ν} . Also (5.2.4) is true for $1_{\frac{1}{4}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{4}}, 2_{\frac{1}{5}} \lor 3_{\frac{1}{5}} \in C$. Next consider $F = 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \in C$. Let $a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}$. When $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{3}$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = F = \lor_{x_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta}).$$

when $\frac{1}{3} < \alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee F) = \operatorname{Co}(1_{\frac{1}{2}}) = \vee_{x_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \vee x_{\beta})$$

When $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor F) = \underline{1} = \lor_{x_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(a_{\alpha} \lor x_{\beta})$$

i.e. (5.2.4) is true for the fuzzy subset $F = 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \in C$.

The same equality follows when $a_{\alpha} = 2_{\beta}$ or β_{ν} .

For the remaining fuzzy convex sets also, (5.2.4) can be shown to be true following similar arguments.

Proposition 5.2.8. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convex structure and let F be a non zero fuzzy subset of X. Then for every $x_{\gamma} \in Co(F)$,

$$Co(F) = \bigvee_{a_{\alpha_1} \in F} Co(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1}))$$
 where $\alpha_1 \neq 1$.

Proof. Let $a_{\alpha_1} \in F$. Then we have $F \setminus a_{\alpha_1} \leq F \leq \operatorname{Co}(F)$, i.e., $x_{\gamma} \vee (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1}) \leq \operatorname{Co}(F)$ i.e., $\operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \vee (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})) \leq \operatorname{Co}(F)$ for each $a_{\alpha_1} \in F$

$$\vee_{a_{\alpha_1} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \backslash a_{\alpha_1})) \le \operatorname{Co}(F)$$
(5.2.5)

Case 1. Let $F(a) = \alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$

Then $a_{\alpha_1} \in F$ where $\alpha_1 \leq \alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$. *i.e.* $\alpha_1 \leq \frac{1}{2}$. (i) Let $x_{\gamma} \in F \in \text{Co}(F)$ When $F(a) = \alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$,

 $F \setminus a_{\alpha_1} = F \quad \text{since}$ $(F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})(a) = F(a) \land (1 - \alpha_1) = F(a)$ $(F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})(x) = F(x), \quad x \neq a.$

Also $x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1}) = F$. *i.e.*, $\operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1}) = \operatorname{Co}(F)$ for all $a_{\alpha_1} \in F$ *i.e.*, $\lor_{a_{\alpha_1} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})) = \operatorname{Co}(F)$ (ii) Let $x_{\gamma} \notin F$, but $x_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Co}(F)$,

i.e.
$$x_{\gamma}(x) = \gamma > F(x)$$
.

Here also $F \setminus a_{\alpha_1} = F$, since $F(a) = \alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$. *i.e.*, $x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1}) \geq F$ *i.e.*, $\operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})) \geq \operatorname{Co}(F) \forall a_{\alpha_1} \in F$

i.e.
$$\vee_{a_{\alpha_1}} \operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \vee (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})) \ge \operatorname{Co}(F)$$
 (5.2.6)

From (5.2.5) & (5.2.6), we have the equality.

Case 2. Let $F(a) = \alpha > \frac{1}{2} \ (\alpha \neq 1)$. Then \exists at least one $a_{\alpha_1} \in F$, $\alpha_1 \leq 1 - \alpha$, such that $F \setminus a_{\alpha_1} = F$. (i) Let $x_{\gamma} \in F \in \text{Co}(F)$

$$\forall_{a_{\alpha_1} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})) = \operatorname{Co}(F)$$

(ii) Let $x_{\gamma} \notin F$, but $x_{\gamma} \in Co(F)$ then $x_{\gamma} \vee (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1}) \ge F$ *i.e.* Co $(x_{\gamma} \vee (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})) \ge Co(F)$

$$\vee_{a_{\alpha_1}} \operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \vee (F \backslash a_{\alpha_1})) \ge \operatorname{Co}(F) \tag{5.2.7}$$

From (5.2.5) and (5.2.7), we have the equality.

Proposition 5.2.9. If a fuzzy convex structure (X, C) has decomposable segments and F is a finite fuzzy subset having at least two points in its support, then for all $x_{\gamma} \in Co(F)$,

$$Co(F) = \bigvee_{a_{\alpha_1} \in F} Co(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\alpha_1})).$$

Proof. The result follows from the Proposition 1.3.8 which corresponds to the crisp case (*i.e.* when $\alpha_1 = 1$) and the Proposition 5.2.8.

5.3 Inter-relations between different types of dependence

Proposition 5.3.1. For a non-zero finite fuzzy subset of a fuzzy convex structure, *R* dependence implies *H*-dependence.

Proof. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convex structure.

Let $F \in I^X$ be a non zero finite fuzzy subset.

Assume that F is R-dependent. *i.e.* \exists a radon partition $\{F_1, F_2\}$ of F such that $\text{Co}(F_1) \land \text{Co}(F_2) \neq \underline{0}$.

Let $a_{\alpha} \in F$.

Then
$$F \setminus a_{\alpha} = F \wedge a'_{\alpha}$$
 where $a'_{\alpha} : \begin{cases} a \to 1 - \alpha \\ x \to 1 \end{cases}$, $x \neq a$.

We have $F_1 \leq F \wedge a'_{\alpha}$ or $F_2 \leq F \wedge a'_{\alpha}$ for each $a_{\alpha} \in F$. For,

$$(F \wedge a'_{\alpha})(x) = F(x) \wedge a'_{\alpha}(x), \quad x \in X$$

= $F(x) \wedge (1 - a_{\alpha})(x)$

Case 1: Let $x \neq a$,

$$(F \wedge a'_{\alpha})(x) = F(x) \wedge 1$$

= $(F_1 \vee F_2)(x) \wedge 1 \ge F_1(x)$ and
 $\ge F_2(x)$

Case 2: Let x = a,

$$(F \wedge a'_{\alpha})(a) = F(a) \wedge (1 - \alpha)$$

= $(F_1 \vee F_2)(a) \wedge (1 - \alpha)$
 $\geq \alpha \wedge (1 - \alpha)$
 $\geq F_2(a)$ if $F_1(a) > 0$ or
 $\geq F_1(a)$ if $F_2(a) > 0$.

i.e., $F_1 \leq F \wedge a'_{\alpha}$ or $F_2 \leq F \wedge a'_{\alpha}$ for each $a_{\alpha} \in F$.

i.e.,
$$\operatorname{Co}(F_1) \leq \wedge_{a_{\alpha} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a'_{\alpha})$$
 or
 $\operatorname{Co}(F_2) \leq \wedge_{a_{\alpha} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a'_{\alpha})$
i.e., $\operatorname{Co}(F_1) \wedge \operatorname{Co}(F_2) \leq \wedge_{a_{\alpha} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a'_{\alpha})$
i.e., $\wedge_{a_{\alpha} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a'_{\alpha}) \geq \operatorname{Co}(F_1) \wedge \operatorname{Co}(F_2) \neq 0$

by R-independence of F.

i.e.,
$$\wedge_{a_0 \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a'_0) \neq \underline{0}$$
.

i.e. F is H-dependent.

 \Box

Remark 5.3.2. For a nonzero finite fuzzy subset of a fuzzy convex structure, Hdependence need not imply R-dependence by the following example.

Consider Counter example 5.2.7, where $F = 1_{\frac{1}{3}} \vee 2_{\frac{1}{5}} \vee 3_{\frac{1}{7}}$.

Let $a_{\alpha} \in F$, then

$$a_{\alpha} = 1_{\alpha}, \ \alpha \le \frac{1}{3} \text{ or}$$

 $= 2_{\beta}, \ \beta \le \frac{1}{5} \text{ or}$
 $= 3_{\gamma}, \ \gamma \le \frac{1}{7}.$

Here $F \setminus a_{\alpha} = 1\frac{1}{3} \vee 2\frac{1}{5} \vee 3\frac{1}{7}$. $\operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\alpha}) = \underline{1}$ for all $a_{\alpha} \in F$. *i.e.*, $\wedge_{a_{\alpha} \in F} Co(F \setminus a_{\alpha}) = \underline{1} \neq 0$. *i.e.* F is H-dependent.

In the Counter example 5.2.7, it is verified that F is R-independent and (X, C) is JHC. *i.e.*, H dependence need not imply R-dependence.

Remark 5.3.3. In the crisp case, if (X, C) is JHC and has the ramification property, then *R*-dependence \Leftrightarrow *H* dependence.

But in the fuzzy case, there is no such equivalence.

Lemma 5.3.4. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convex structure. Then a nonzero finite fuzzy subset F of X with $F(p) = \alpha$, $\alpha \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ is C-dependent.

Proof. Let $F(p) = \alpha > \frac{1}{2}$. Then $p_{\alpha_1} \in F$. i.e., $\alpha_1 \leq \alpha$. When $\alpha_1 = \alpha > \frac{1}{2}, 1 - \alpha < \frac{1}{2}$. *i.e.*, $p_{1-\alpha} \in p_{\alpha} \in F$. Then $F \setminus p_{1-\alpha} = F$, since when x = p.

$$(F \setminus p_{1-\alpha})(p) = F(p) \land \alpha$$
$$= \alpha \land \alpha$$
$$= \alpha = F(p)$$

When $x \neq p$

$$(F \setminus p_{1-\sigma})(x) = F(x) \land 1$$
$$= F(x).$$

i.e., $\operatorname{Co}(F \setminus p_{1-\alpha}) = \operatorname{Co}(F)$. *i.e.*, $\bigvee_{x_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus x_{\beta}) = \operatorname{Co}(F)$, *i.e.*, F is C-dependent.

Proposition 5.3.5. If a fuzzy convex structure (X, C) has a CUP, then for every nonzero finite fuzzy subset, E-dependence \Rightarrow C-dependence.

Proof. We assume that (X, C) has a CUP and F is a non zero finite fuzzy subset which is E-dependent.

Let $p_{\alpha} \in F$. **Case 1.** Let $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{2}$. We show that $F \leq p_{\alpha} \vee (F \wedge p'_{\alpha})$ iff $F(p) \leq 1 - \alpha$. For, let $F \leq p_{\alpha} \vee (F \wedge p'_{\alpha})$.

When x = p, $F(p) \le \alpha \lor [F(p) \land (1 - \alpha)]$ *i.e.*, $F(p) \le \alpha$ or $F(p) \le F(p) \land (1 - \alpha)$ *i.e.*, $F(p) \le F(p) \land (1 - \alpha)$ as $F(p) \le \alpha$ is not true. *i.e.*, $F(p) \le F(p) \land (1 - \alpha) \le F(p)$. *i.e.*, $F(p) = F(p) \land (1 - \alpha)$ *i.e.*, $F(p) \le 1 - \alpha$. Conversely, let $F(p) \le 1 - \alpha$.

i.e.,
$$(p_{\alpha} \lor (F \land p'_{\alpha}))(p) = \alpha \lor [F(p) \land (1 - \alpha)]$$

= $\alpha \lor F(p) = F(p).$

Also, $(p_{\alpha} \vee (F \wedge p'_{\alpha}))(x) = F(x)$ for all $x \neq p$. *i.e.*, $p_{\alpha} \vee (F \wedge p'_{\alpha}) = F$. *i.e.*, $F \leq p_{\alpha} \vee (F \wedge p'_{\alpha})$ where $F(p) \leq 1 - \alpha$.

i.e.,
$$\operatorname{Co}(F) \le \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor (F \land p'_{\alpha})) \le \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor \operatorname{Co}(F \land p'_{\alpha}))$$
 (5.3.1)

Also $p_{\alpha} \vee \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge p'_{\alpha}) \leq \operatorname{Co}(F)$.

$$\operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge p'_{\alpha})) \leq \operatorname{Co}(F).$$
(5.3.2)

From (5.3.1) & (5.3.2),

$$\operatorname{Co}(F) = \operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor \operatorname{Co}(F \land p'_{\alpha}))$$
(5.3.3)

By *E*-dependence of *F*, for each $p_{\alpha} \in F$,

$$\operatorname{Co}(F \wedge p'_{\alpha}) \leq \bigvee_{a,\beta \in F} \{\operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a'_{\beta}) | a_{\beta} \in F \wedge p'_{\alpha}, a \neq p\}$$

By CUP,

$$\operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge p'_{\alpha})) \leq \bigvee_{a_{\beta}} \{\operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \vee \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a'_{\beta})) | a_{\beta} \in F \wedge p'_{\alpha}, a \neq p\}$$

By (5.3.3),

$$Co(F) \le \bigvee_{a_{\beta}} [\operatorname{Co}(p_{\alpha} \lor \operatorname{Co}(F \land \alpha'_{\beta})) | a \ne p]$$
 (5.3.4)

We know $p_{\alpha} \in F \setminus a_{\beta} = F \wedge a'_{\beta} \in Co(F \wedge a'_{\beta}).$ *i.e.*, $p_{\alpha} \vee Co(F \wedge a'_{\beta}) = Co(F \wedge a'_{\beta}).$ *i.e.*, Co $(p_{\alpha} \vee Co(F \wedge a'_{\beta})) = Co(F \wedge a'_{\beta}).$ By (5.3.4),

$$\operatorname{Co}(F) \leq \bigvee_{a_{\beta} \in F} \{\operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a_{\beta}') | a \neq p\}$$
$$\leq \bigvee_{a_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \wedge a_{\beta}').$$

i.e., F is C-dependent.

In particular when $F(p) = \alpha$ and $F(p) \le 1 - \alpha$. (*i.e.* when $\alpha \le \frac{1}{2}$), *E*-dependence \Rightarrow *C*-dependence.

Case 2. Let $F(p) = \alpha > \frac{1}{2}$.

By lemma 5.3.4, F is C-dependent when $F(p) = \alpha > \frac{1}{2}$.

In particular when F is E dependent, F is C dependent.

Hence the result.

Proposition 5.3.6. Let (X, C) be a fuzzy convex structure which is JHC and has decomposable segments. Then for a nonzero finite fuzzy subset of (X, C), H-dependence implies E-dependence.

Proof. Assume that F is H-dependent, *i.e.*, $\wedge_{a_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta}) \neq \underline{0}$ then $[\wedge_{a_{\beta} \in F} \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta})](x) = \gamma \neq 0$ for some γ

i.e, $x_{\gamma} \in \wedge_{a_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta})$

i.e.
$$x_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta})$$
 for each $a_{\beta} \in F$. (5.3.5)

Also $F \setminus p_{\alpha} \setminus a_{\beta} \leq F \setminus a_{\beta}$ where $a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}, a \neq p$.

i.e.
$$x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus p_{\alpha} \setminus a_{\beta}) \le x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\beta})$$

 $\le \operatorname{Co} (F \setminus a_{\beta})$
since $x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus a_{\beta}) \le x_{\gamma} \lor \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta})$
 $= \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta})$ by (5.3.5)

i.e,

$$\operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus p_{\alpha} \setminus a_{\beta}) \le \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta})$$

for all $x_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta}) \in \operatorname{Co}(F)$.

i.e.
$$\lor_{a_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(x_{\gamma} \lor (F \setminus p_{\alpha} \setminus a_{\beta}) \le \lor_{a_{\beta}} \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta})$$

i.e, for each $p_{\alpha} \in F$, by prop. 5.2.9

$$\operatorname{Co}(F \setminus p_{\alpha}) \leq \bigvee_{a_{\beta}} \{ \operatorname{Co}(F \setminus a_{\beta}) | a_{\beta} \in F \setminus p_{\alpha}, a \neq p \}.$$

i.e., F is E-dependent.

Conclusion

Since the publication of the classical paper on fuzzy sets by L. A. Zadeh in 1965, the theory of fuzzy mathematics has gained more and more recognition from many researchers in a wide range of scientific fields. Among various branches of pure and applied mathematics, convexity was one of the areas where the notion of fuzzy set was applied. Many researchers have been involved in extending the notion of abstract convexity to the broader framework of fuzzy setting. As a result, a number of concepts have been formulated and explored. However, many concepts are yet to be fuzzified. The main objective of this thesis was to extend some basic concepts and results in convexity theory to the fuzzy setting.

The concept like matroids, independent structures, classical convex invariants like Helly number, Caratheodory number, Radon number and Exchange number form an important area of study in crisp convexity theory. In this thesis, we try to generalize some of these concepts to the fuzzy setting.

Further extending the concepts in crisp convexity theory, we have introduced fuzzy JHC space, CUP etc as the properties of a fuzzy convexity space. We have proved many results in this direction. Further, we have extended and explored the notion of various types of dependence as a background for doing further work in the theory of classical convex invariants to the fuzzy context. Also we have obtained one result (Prop 3.2.3) whose importance according to us is in lifting results from the finite to the general case. Another important result that

we have proved is that fuzzy matroids form fuzzy independent structures as in the crisp case but the converse need not be true. Finally, we have defined different types of fuzzy matroids derived from vector spaces and discussed some of their properties.

Still there are results in crisp theory related to the topics covered in this thesis which are to be investigated in the fuzzy setting. There are lots of ideas still left in convexity, for which fuzzy analogues are not defined and explored.

Bibliography

- [1] Philip W. Bean. Helly and Radon-Type theorems in interval convexity spaces. *Pacific Journals of Mathematics*, 51(2), 1974.
- [2] M. Berger. Convexity. Amer. Math. Monthly., 97(8):650-701, 1990.
- [3] G. Birkhoff. Lattice Theory. Amer. Math. Soci. Publ., Rhode Island, 1967.
- [4] V. W. Bryant. Independent axioms for convexity. J. of Geometry, 5:95–99, 1974.
- [5] V. W. Bryant and R. J. Webster. Generalization of the theorems of radon, helly and caratheodory. *Monatsh. Math.*, 73:309–315, 1969.
- [6] V. W. Bryant and R. J. Webster. Convexity spaces-1-the basic properties. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 37:206–213, 1972.
- [7] J. Calder. Some elementary properties of interval convexities. J. London Math. Soc., 2, 3:422–428, 1971.
- [8] P. M. Cohn. Universal Algebra. Harper and Row, New York, 1965.
- [9] Krzysztof Kolodziej Czyk. Generalised helly and radom numbers. *Bull. Austral. Math. Soc.*, 43:429–437, 1991.
- [10] L. Danzer, B. Grunbaum, and V. Klee. Helley's theorem and its relatives. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. Amer. Math. Soc., pages 101–180, 1963.
- [11] D. Dubois and H. Prade. Fuzzy sets and systems, theory and applications. Academic press, New York, 1980.

- [12] J. Eckhoff. Der satz von radon in konvexen peoduktstrukturen i. Monatshefte für Math., 72:303–314, 1968.
- [13] Z. Feiyue. The recession cones and caratheodory theorem of convex fuzzy sets. *Fuzzy sets and Systems*, 44:57–69, 1991.
- [14] R. Goetschel and W. Voxman. Fuzzy matroids. Fuzzy Sets and systems, 27:291–302, 1988.
- [15] R. Goetschel and W. Voxman. Bases of fuzzy matroids. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 31:253–261, 1989.
- [16] R. Goetschel and W. Voxman. Fuzzy matroids and a greedy algorithm. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 37:201–214, 1990.
- [17] R. Goetschel and W. Voxman. Fuzzy rank functions. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 42:245–258, 1991.
- [18] J. A. Goguen. l-fuzzy sets. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 18:145-179, 1967.
- [19] P. C. Hammer. Extended topology domain finiteness. *Indag. Math.*, 25:200– 212, 1963.
- [20] I. C. Hsueh. On fuzzication of matroids. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 53:319– 327, 1993.
- [21] R. E. Jamison. A general theory of Convexity. PhD thesis, University of Washington, 1974.
- [22] R. E. Jamison. A perspective on abstract convexity: Classifying alignments by varieties in convexity and related combinatored geometry. In D. C. Kay and M. Breen, editors, *Proc.2nd Oklahoma Conf.*, pages 113–150, New York, 1982.
- [23] A. K. Katsaras and D. B. Liu. Fuzzy vector spaces and fuzzy topological vector spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 58:135–146, 1977.
- [24] D. C. Kay and E. W. Womble. Axiomatic convexity theory and relationships between the caratheodory, helly and radon numbers. *Pacific. J. Math.*, 38(2):471–485, 1971.

- [25] P. J. Kelly and M. L. Weiss. Geometry and Convexity-A study in Mathematics Methods. John Wiley and Sons, 1979.
- [26] G. J. Klir and T. A. Folger. *Fuzzy sets, Uncertainty and Information*. Prentice-Hall of India, 1993.
- [27] George J. Klir and Bo Yuan. *Fuzzy sets and Fuzzy Logic-Theory and Applications*. Prentice Hall of India Pvt Ltd., 2002.
- [28] H. J. Lai. Matroid Theory. Higher Education Press, Beijing.
- [29] S. R. Lay. Convex Sets and their applications. John Wiley and Sons, 1982.
- [30] F. W. Levi. On helly's theorem and the axioms of convexity. J. of Indian Math. Soc., 15:65-76, 1951.
- [31] R. Lowen. Fuzzy topological spaces and fuzzy compactness. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 56:621–633, 1976.
- [32] R. Lowen. Convex fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 3:291-310, 1980.
- [33] Jan Van Mill and M. Van de Vel. Sub bases, convex sets and hyperspaces. *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, 92(2):385–402, 1981.
- [34] Liu Ying Ming and Luo Mao Kang. Fuzzy Topology. World Scientific, 1997.
- [35] L. A. Novak. A comment on 'Bases of fuzzy matroids'. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 87:251–252, 1997.
- [36] L. A. Novak. On fuzzy independence set systems. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 91:365–374, 1997.
- [37] L. A. Novak. On Goetschel and Voxman fuzzy matroids. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 117:407–412, 2001.
- [38] James G. Oxley. Matroid theory. In *Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1992.
- [39] K. S. Parvathy. *Studies on Convex Structures with emphasis on Convexity in Graphs*. PhD thesis, Cochin University of Science and Technology, 1995.

- [40] Shiny Philip. A note on fuzzy matriod. (to appear in the Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics).
- [41] Shiny Philip. On various notions of dependence in a fuzzy convexity space. (to appear in The oriental Journal of Applied Mathematics).
- [42] Shiny Philip. Some results on fuzzy matroid. (Proceedings of the International Seminar on "Recent Trends in Topology and its Applications", St. Joseph's College, Irinjalakkuda, March 2009).
- [43] Shiny Philip. A study on various fuzzy matroids from vector spaces. (communicated).
- [44] Shiny Philip. Convex sets and convex functions, 1994. M.phil Dissertation.
- [45] Shiny Philip. Relation between fuzzy matroids and fuzzy independent structures. Bulletin of Kerala Mathematics Association, 5(1):63–80, December 2008.
- [46] Shiny Philip. A note on fuzzy independent structures. Proceeding of the National Seminar on "Fuzzy Mathematics and Graph Theory", St Teresa's College, Ernakulam, July 23–25 2009.
- [47] W. Prenowitz and J. Jantosciak. A Theory of Convex sets and Linear Geometry. Springer-Verlag, 1976.
- [48] R. T. Rockafellar. *Convex Analysis*. Princeton University Press, New Jersey, 1970.
- [49] Christian Ronse. A bibliography on digital and computational convexity (1961–1988). In IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence, volume 11(2). IEEE Computer Society, Washington DC, USA, 1989.
- [50] M. V. Rosa. Separation axioms in fuzzy topology fuzzy convexity spaces. *The Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics*, 2(3):611–621, 1994.
- [51] M.V. Rosa. A Study of Fuzzy Convexity with special reference to separation properties. PhD thesis, Cochin University of Science and Technology, 1994.

- [52] Fu-Gui Shi. A new approach to the fuzzication of matroids. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 160:696–705, 2009.
- [53] G. Sierksma. Caratheodory and helly numbers of convex product structures. *Pacific Journal of Math.*, 61:275–282, 1975.
- [54] G. Sierksma. Axiomatic Convexity Theory and the Convex Product Space. PhD thesis, University of Groningen, 1976.
- [55] G. Sierksma. Relationship between caratheodory, helly, radon and exchange numbers of convexity spaces. *Nieuw Arch. Voor, Wisk*, (3) X X V:115–132, 1977.
- [56] G. Sierksma. Generalization of helly's theorem, convexity and related combinatorial geometry (normal, okla). In *Lecture notes in Pure and Applied Mathematics*, volume 76, pages 173–192. Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1982.
- [57] V. P. Soltan. Introduction to the Axiomatic theory of Convexity. Shitiinca, Kishinev, 1984.
- [58] N. Sridharan and N. Chandrasekaran. Circuits of a discrete fuzzy matroid. *The Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics*, 14(2):317–326, 2006.
- [59] H. Tverberg. A generalization of Radon's theorem. J. London Math. Soc., 41:123–128, 1966.
- [60] M. Van de Vel. Theory of Convex Structures. North Holland, N.Y., 1993.
- [61] S. Vijayakrishnan. On some Infinite Convex Invariants. PhD thesis, Cochin University of Science and Technology, 2002.
- [62] M. D. Weiss. Fixed points, separation and induced topologies for fuzzy sets. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 50:142–150, 1975.
- [63] D. J. A. Welsh. Matroid Theory. Academic Press, 1976.
- [64] Neil White, editor. *Matroid Applications*. Number 40 in Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, 1992.

- [65] H. Whitney. On the abstract properties of linear dependence. *Amer. J. Math.*, 57:509–533, 1935.
- [66] D. R. Woodall. An exchange theorem for bases of matroids. J. Combin. Theory See. B, 16:227–228, 1974.
- [67] L. A. Zadeh. From circuit theory to system theory. In *Proceedings of Institute of Radio Engineering*, volume 50, pages 856–865, 1962.
- [68] L. A. Zadeh. Fuzzy sets. Infor. Control, 8:338-353, 1965.
- [69] H. J. Zimmermann. *Fuzzy Set theory and its applications*, volume 1. Allied Publishers Limited, second edition, 1991.

Index

basis, 56

Caratheodory dependent, 63 complement, 11 cone-union property CUP, 60 convex structure, 12 convex hull, 12, 16 convex set, 12 fuzzy-, 16 convexity, 12 convexity space, 12 convexly *-independent, 24 convexly independent, 24 decomposable, 61 decomposable segment, 13 depend, 25 equivalence relation, 14 exchange dependent, 64 exchange law, 16 finitary law, 24 flat, 16, 25 fuzzy affine convexity, 49 fuzzy affine matroid, 49 fuzzy affine set, 49 fuzzy convex structure, 12, 61 fuzzy convex to convex function FCC, 13 fuzzy convexity, 12, 16 fuzzy convexity preserving function FCP. 13 fuzzy convexity space, 12, 16

fuzzy exchange law, 17 fuzzy extensive law, 60 fuzzy independent structure, 24 fuzzy interval operator, 60 fuzzy linear convexity, 46 fuzzy linear matroid, 49 fuzzy linear set, 46 fuzzy matroid, 16, 17 fuzzy point, 10 fuzzy polytope, 54 fuzzy projective matroid, 51 fuzzy subset, 10 fuzzy symmetry law, 60 fuzzy transitive law of dependence, 27 Helly dependent, 63

hull operator, 30

independent set, 16 independent structure, 16

join hull commutative, 18

matroid, 16

non-degeneracy law, 16, 24

quotient function, 49

Radon dependent, 63 ramification property, 61 rank, 56 reflexive relation, 13 replacement law, 24

strong replacement law, 27

INDEX

support, 10 symmetric relation, 13

trace, 46 transitive relation, 14

weakly JHC, 55

List of Symbols

| I^X | Set of all fuzzy subsets of X |
|----------------------------------|--|
| Supp A | Support of fuzzy subset A |
| I_{fin}^{X} | Set of all finite fuzzy subsets of X |
| V | join |
| \wedge | meet |
| A' | Complement of A |
| (X,\mathcal{C}) | convexity space |
| \mathcal{C} | convexity |
| <u>a</u> | constant function whose value is 'a', anywhere |
| $\operatorname{Co}\left(F ight)$ | fuzzy convex hull of F |
| xRy | x is related to y under R |
| = | equivalence relation |
| [x] | fuzzy R-equivalence class |
| $A \backslash B$ | A difference B for fuzzy subsets A , B |
| Card (A) | Cardinality of A |
| ϵ | Collection of independent sets |
| # A | Number of elements in A |
| h(A) | Set of all fuzzy points depending on A |
| d(A) | Rank of A |
| (X, I) | Interval space on X |
| I(a, b) | fuzzy interval between a and b |
| lin(A) | Linear hull of A |
| aff (A) | Affine hull of A |
| $\Pr(A)$ | Projective hull of A |
| $\mathcal{P}(X)$ | set of all subsets of X |
| | |